IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1970

A model of optimum water allocation under Iowa's permit system

Richard Allan Baldwin Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd Part of the <u>Agricultural and Resource Economics Commons</u>, <u>Agricultural Economics Commons</u>, <u>Economics Commons</u>, <u>Water Law Commons</u>, and the <u>Water Resource Management Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Baldwin, Richard Allan, "A model of optimum water allocation under Iowa's permit system" (1970). *Retrospective Theses and Dissertations*. 16473. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/16473

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



A MODEL OF OPTIMUM WATER ALLOCATION UNDER IOWA'S PERMIT SYSTEM

主要要

by

Richard Allan Baldwin

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of The Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Subject: Economics

Signatures have been redacted for privacy

Iowa State University Of Science and Technology Ames, Iowa

1136-B 603

HD1694 I8 B3x

TABLE OF CONTENTS

C. 2	Page
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of the Problem	1
CHAPTER TWO: FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYSIS	4
Water as an Economic Entity	4
Demands and Requirements	9
Theoretic Conditions for Optimum Resource Use	11
Possible Divergences from Theoretic Optimum	15
CHAPTER THREE: LEGAL SYSTEMS OF WATER RESOURCE ALLOCATION	17
The Doctrine of Prior Appropriation	19
The Riparian Doctrine	21
Doctrines Governing Underground Water Supplies	22
Administrative Allocation: Iowa's Water Permit System	23
Economic Interpretations of Legal and Permit System Allocation	31
CHAPTER FOUR: HYPOTHESIS	34
CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL LINEAR PROGRAMMING MODEL FOR	
KESOURCE USE	37
Model Structure	38
Interpretation of the Solution	48
Changes in Parameters	48
Adapting the Model to Multi-dimensional Goals	49
CHAPTER SIX: APPLICATION OF THE GENERAL MODEL	51
Application I: A Hypothetical Water Use Situation	51
Application II: An Existing Water Use Situation	84
CHAPTER SEVEN: RESULTS OF MODEL SOLUTIONS	93
Results of Application I	94
Results of Application II	107
Limitations of the Model	120
Summary and Conclusions	122
Suggestions for Further Research	125
BIBLIOGRAPHY	127

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS			
APPENDIX	A	137	
APPENDIX	В	145	

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Statement of the Problem

Many of man's activities depend upon the availability of water as one of the earth's resources. In Iowa, virtually every sector of the economy uses water (4, Table 2-A). In the future, industrial, agricultural, and population requirements for water in Iowa are expected to increase (4, Table 4-A) as population and output increase (57, 69). At some point in time, because of the uneven distribution of water supply both seasonally and geographically, requirements for water in Iowa may reach such a level that water becomes a constraining resource, one whose scarcity causes potential production to be foregone. This constraining influence on production could be felt either locally or generally, by individual water users or by groups of users. In such a situation, the manner in which water rights are allocated could have a direct effect on state and local economic fortunes.

In the United States, water has traditionally been allocated by non-market mechanisms. These systems have developed primarily in the customs, legislation, and court decisions of each state. In the State of Iowa, water resources are allocated by a system of water use permits (48). Since the inception of the water permit system in 1957, after a decade of below average rainfall (104), water supplies in Iowa have been relatively abundant.

During this period, all except two permit applications have been granted, and the two which were denied each requested a permit for the drainage of excess surface water.¹ It is therefore impossible to determine, on the basis of its historical performance, how the water permit system would allocate Iowa's water resources if scarcity of those resources began to impose a constraint on the state's economic

¹Louis R. Gieseke, Assistant Water Commissioner, Des Moines, Iowa. Data on the history of Iowas water permit system. Private communication. February 9, 1969.

activity. This study addresses itself to the task of predicting, on some basis other than historical performance, the permit system's reaction to a water scarcity and also to the task of developing a method for economic evaluation of this reaction.

The three objectives of this study are as follows: 1) to analyze Iowa's water permit system, constructing an estimate of the system's allocation in times of water scarcity; 2) to construct a model which will yield in specific situations both an optimum water use pattern and values for water in its various uses; 3) to apply the model developed in objective 2 above and the estimate constructed in objective 1 to a specific situation.

Methods and procedures

This study is divided into three procedural phases. The first phase, contained in the first sections of Chapter II, is both descriptive and theoretic in nature. First, water is examined both as a physical and as an economic entity, in an attempt to link the relevant concepts of hydrology and geology to the theoretic framework of economics. Following this in Chapter II, theoretic necessary and sufficient conditions for optimum resource allocation are derived.

The second phase of the analysis, contained in Chapters III through V, examines the origins and general characteristics of the allocative mechanisms currently in use in the United States. To each system are applied the necessary and sufficient conditions developed in Chapter II in order to evaluate each system's recognition of these conditions of optimality. Emphasis is placed on Iowa's permit system in this discussion. As a result of this analysis of the permit system, a specific hypothesis is developed in Chapter IV and a general model is developed in Chapter V under the guidance of this hypothesis. The general model utilizes linear programming to describe the interaction between hydrologic and economic systems, generating approximate values for water optimally allocated among various uses. The results

of the model's application can be used in testing hypotheses concerning water allocation under Iowa's permit system.

The third phase of the study is empirical, and consists of application of the linear programming model to two water use situations, one real, the other hypothetical. Chapter VI contains a description of the results of these applications. In Chapter VII, the study and its results are summarized, and conclusions drawn with respect to the applications of the model developed in Chapter V. Recommendations for further research are also suggested in Chapter VII.

CHAPTER TWO: FRAMEWORK FOR ANALYSIS

Iowa's pattern of water use is made up of three dimensions. The first dimension comprises the requirements¹ for water in all its uses, whether as an input to a production process or as a commodity for direct use. The second dimension is Iowa's supply of water, existing both on the surface and underground. The third dimension is Iowa's water permit system, under which rights of use are allocated to particular water users. At any point in time, the pattern of water use in the state, or any local area of the state, is the result of the permit allocation mechanism's interaction with water requirements and water supplies. Conceptual examination of each dimension is a useful prerequisite to discussion of any particular pattern of water use which would result from a scarce water supply.

Water as an Economic Entity

Occurrence

The earth's water supply is circulated by means of the hydrologic cycle, in which water is transferred from land to the sea and back to land (56, p. 8). Precipitation of evaporated seawater in this process accounts for almost the entire supply of fresh water, which occurs either as surface runoff collected in streams and rivers or as underground water collected in aquifers.² Units of the quantity of water in the hydrologic cycle are not homogeneous, but are differentiated by the time and location of their occurrence, and by their individual quality characteristics (40, p. 16; 67, p. 1259; 88, p. 7). The physical

 2 Aquifers are quantities of water occurring in porous strata of rock and soil beneath the earth's surface (56, p. 8).

¹The term "requirements" is used instead of "demands". By definition, demand for a resource is a function of resource price. Under Iowa's water permit system, water has no market price; use of the concept of demand would be imprecise. The distinction between requirements and demands is discussed in a later section of this chapter.

processes of the hydrologic cycle store, transport, and change the quality of the earth's water, creating and maintaining specific supplies of water throughout the earth.

Supply

The earth's physical supply of water is all water contained in the hydrologic cycle, whether in seas, lakes, or rivers; in the atmosphere or underground. However, portions of the entire physical supply of water are not available for use. At any point in time, use of some portion of the physical supply of water may be prohibited due to restrictions imposed by such social institutions as a legal system (2, p. 18). One such institutional restriction of water use in Iowa is that which prohibits withdrawals when streamflow reaches a certain legally protected minimum (48, sec.455A.1). The amount of water available up to this type of limit is known as the institutional supply (2, p. 18). Further, at any point in time technological limits may make some quantities of water unavailable. The impossibility of reclaiming predictable amounts of atmospheric water when and where they are required (13, pp. 4-7) is an example of a limit placed on water supply by present technology.

Some authors make use of the concept of economic supply (2, p. 18; 16, p. 198; 52, p. 1112; 87, p. 1245). Economic supply is that amount of water which is economically feasible to bring into production. Economic feasibility is determined by the relationship between the cost of acquisition of an additional unit of water and the returns which that unit yields to its users; if returns are greater than costs, use of the additional unit is feasible. The unit cost of acquisition of additional water is influenced by technology, so that if changes in technology decrease the cost, use of previously untapped water may become feasible. Assuming acquisition costs to be constant, an increase in returns to the use of an additional unit of water could increase economic supply. Returns increase if demand for water increases, raising the price which users are willing to pay for an additional unit. These effects

of technology and economic conditons on economic supply mean that water supply is not only a function of man's knowledge, but also of man's economic fortunes. Defining economic supply in terms of economic feasibility neatly illustrates the point that technological and economic change may make vast unused water supplies eligible for consideration in meeting existing and potential needs. The extent of these potential water supplies would be dependent upon the existence of any institutional or technological limit on physical supply.

Water supplies may be characterized as either stock or flow supplies. Kelso (52) defines stock supplies as those whose physical quantity does not increase appreciably over time; therefore, each rate of use of a stock resource diminishes some future rate of use. In defining a flow supply, Kelso points out that different units of the supply become available at different times, and that present flow does not diminish future flow. Therefore, it would be possible to maintain use of a flow resource indefinitely if flow continues. The hydrologic cycle, precipitation, surface runoff, and streamflow are examples of flow supplies of water, while an aquifer which recharges at a very slow rate could be considered a stock supply, fixed in magnitude.

Water use classification

The uses to which water resources can be put are myriad, perhaps as numerous as man's activities. A number of different schemes exist whereby these uses can be classified. One such device classifies water use by the final product, process, or activity of which water is a part, under the two general headings of production and consumption uses. Water uses in industry, mining, and agriculture are production uses (87, p. 1245), while such uses as human consumption and recreation are consumption uses (87, p. 1245; 16, p. 198). This method of classification is useful for the economist, for the same categories can be applied to water as an input or commodity in constructing demand relationships.

Some water uses, both production and consumption, may be designated as consumptive. In the traditional riparian definition,³ a water use is consumptive if the quantity of water in the watercourse is diminished by such use (1, p. 104; 43, p. 7; 90, p. 272). However, defining consumption in terms of quantity alone ignores other important ways in which a use may be consumptive. As an example, consider an industrial water user who returns to the watercourse all the water he withdraws, but returns it laden with the by-products of his production process. If a downstream user must treat intake water to remove these industrial pollutants, the second user is restoring quality utility which the upstream user consumed. It is therefore important to consider depletions in the utility which units of water in a watercourse possess, as well as depletions in quantity in the watercourse, when considering consumptive use.

Source depletion is also an important characteristic of those water uses which withdraw water from a stock supply. Since present rates of use of stock water supplies directly affect future rates of use, allocation decisions must be made inter-temporally, as well as among uses and users.

Finally, economic theory provides one further classification of water use by enabling the relationships between water uses to be characterized as complementary, competitive, or neutral (87, p. 1246; 76, p. 162). According to Timmons(87), water uses are complementary if allocation to one use increases net benefits accruing to water in another use, while a competitive relationship exists if one water use restricts net benefits available from another. If net benefits available from different uses are not affected by allocation to one use or another, the relationship is one of neutrality. Any consumptive use of water is competitively related to most other uses of that water, since

³The riparian doctrine is that legal system under which water rights are allocated in most of the thirty-one eastern states. Further discussion of the riparian doctrine is contained in a later section of this chapter.

allocation to a consumptive use generally does not permit further use of the water without at least restoring the utility which was consumed. A use which is consumptive with respect to quality impairment may not interfere with another use which requires low water quality, but this relation is at best neutral. Water used in hydroelectric power generation complements the use of that water for recreation, since power generation ideally requires a constant head of water, which would provide a constant reservoir depth for swimming, boating, or fishing. Use for power generation would be neutral with respect to downstream uses, since only the energy head of the elevated water is used in generating power, not necessarily impairing quality or quantity. Complementary uses are not the major concern in allocation, nor are neutral uses, for a unit of water allocated to one use does not decrease or preclude the benefits available from that unit of water in another use if the two uses are neutral or complementary with respect to each other. However, problems arise when allocation decisions must be made among competing uses for a water supply, since only one of the competing uses can realize the benefits accruing from use of the water.

In summary, the methods of classifying water use described above characterize each water use according to the product or activity of which it is part, and designate each use as consumptive, nonconsumptive, or source-depleting. Further, sets of uses are characterized as complementary, neutral, or competitive. Such a scheme coincides with concepts advanced by Snyder(82), who holds that uses should be categorized based on the concept of utility addition. Each use would be considered a conversion of water in an economic process such that not only quantity, but also time, place, and quality utility may be modified. Uses would then be identified according to their effect on Pareto⁴ optimality, which embodies the idea of interaction among water users.

⁴For a comprehensive discussion of the conditions of Pareto optimality, see (78, pp. 148-188).

Demands and Requirements

In discussions of non-market allocation of water rights, it is important to distinguish between demands and requirements for water. The distinction between these two terms as used in this study can be illustrated by a discussion of the concept of water resource demand.⁵ Demand for a resource is of two types, direct and indirect. For uses in which water is a factor input to be transformed into some product, demand is indirect. For such uses as drinking or bathing, water, or the utility which it possesses, is directly consumed; for these uses, demand is direct. Demand of both types is expressed for units of water of a particular quality at a particular time and location.

Direct and indirect demand are both based upon physical relationships. Direct demand by a water user is based upon the relationship between that individual's consumption of alternative amounts of water and the utility which he derives in consumption. This relationship between utility and consumption is expressed by the concept of the utility function. Indirect demand by a firm for water as a factor input is based upon the firm's production function, a technological relationship describing the transformation of a set of factor inputs into some product.

Demand for water, however, is dependent upon more than the physical relationships described above. The price of the water resource is an important component of demand, for in their purchases of water, direct demanders are constrained by a finite income, while indirect demanders are constrained by a finite revenue from the sale of the product of which water is a part. Thus, if water has a market price, the amount users are able to buy depends upon the level of market price and the amount of money available for the purchase of water.

Another important component of demand is the set of prices of other goods, particularly those which are either complements or substitutes for water as a commodity or factor. The amount of water

 $^{^{5}\}mbox{General}$ discussion of the concepts of demand can be found in (32, pp. 26-42).

which a user is willing to buy varies directly with the prices of substitute goods and inversely with the prices of complementary goods (32, pp. 54-60).

In summary, demand for water is initially derived from physical relationships. Direct demand is derived from the consumer's utility function, indirect demand from the firm's production function. In addition, demand for water is dependent upon the price of water, the prices of other goods which may complement or be substituted for water, and consumer's income or firm's revenue.

In this study, the term "requirements" is used to refer to demand in situations where there is no market price for water. The term is used in this way for two reasons. First, where water has no price, if income or revenue and the prices of other goods are held constant the requirement for water derives solely from the consumer's utility function or the firm's production function. This relationship is physical, not economic; to label it demand would be imprecise and misleading. Second, in situations where water supply is insufficient to satisfy all requirements and where water has no market price, the requirements of alternative uses do not reflect the opportunity cost of water. Water has an opportunity cost if allocation of water to one use requires that production be foregone in other uses (32, p. 164), as is true in situations of insufficient supply.

In situations where market allocation of water rights is prohibited or restricted by a legal system, the concept of demand is of limited usefulness for the reasons cited in the above discussion. In addition, the applicability of a microeconomic industry or market analysis to water allocation is limited by at least the following factors:

> a) many decentralized users, such as farms, industry, and non-profit water organizations, are self-supplied (16, p. 200; 18, p. 3). In 1950, 99 per cent of agricultural irrigation and 97 per cent of industrial use were self-supplied (16, p. 200).
> Allocation decisions in these cases are internal, and not expressed in the market place.

b) As a commodity or factor, water is not homogeneous; for each demand, differentiated by quality, time, and location requirements, a "market" could exist. Thus, there would be no reason to expect a single price for water.
c) Forms of ownership of rights to use of water are diverse.⁶
Among the various legal and administrative systems of water allocation in the United States, and within each system, a variety of restrictions have been placed on the free use and transfer of water. Without freedom to transfer commensurable rights to use a product, traditional market analysis is crippled.
d) Forms of payment are also diverse, and possibly are not based on a concept of market price (10, p. 37; 16, p. 198; 65, p. 2); <u>ad valorem</u> taxes have been the most popular mode of payment (10, p. 38).

For these reasons, it appears that the problems which need to be considered are more those of organization and management of selfsupplying firms than of a traditionally defined industry (16, p. 201). However, even in their limited capacity, market concepts will prove useful in analysis of water allocation problems, since competition for water could develop among self-supplying firms.

Theoretic Conditions for Optimum Resource Use

It is not unreasonable to assume that the appropriative doctrine, the riparian doctrine, and Iowa's permit system (all to be discussed in the next chapter) were designed to be optimizing institutional mechanisms (94, p. 6). In this section, theoretic necessary conditions for optimum water resource use are derived and, under the assumption above, are applied to each of the three allocation mechanisms to show how allocation under each system can differ from the optimum. Necessary conditions for optimum resource use can easily be shown using a

⁶A summary description of these forms of ownership is contained in a later section discussing water law.

classical optimization method, the technique of Lagrange multipliers. The general maximization case of this technique, utilizing inequality constraints, treats problems of the form⁷

1) max Z = f (x), satisfying

$$g_{i}(x) \leq b_{i}$$
 $i = 1, ..., u,$
2) $g_{i}(x) \geq b_{i}$ $i = u + 1, ..., v,$
 $g_{i}(x) = b_{i}$ $i = v + 1, ..., m,$

where X is an <u>n</u>-component vector. Adding slack and surplus variables, the original constraints are equivalent to

$$g_{i}(x) + x_{si} = b_{i} \qquad i = 1, \dots, u,$$

$$g_{i}(x) - x_{si} = b_{i} \qquad i = u + 1, \dots, v,$$

$$g_{i}(x) = b_{i} \qquad i = v + 1, \dots, m.$$

The corresponding Lagrangian function is

4)
$$F(x, x_s, \lambda) = f(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{u} \lambda_i \left[b_i - x_{si} - g_i(x) \right] + \sum_{i=u+1}^{v} \lambda_i \left[b_i + x_{si} - g_i(x) \right] + \sum_{i=v+1}^{m} \lambda_i \left[b_i - g_i(x) \right]$$

In order for f (x) to take on a maximum at x_0 , the following necessary conditions must hold:

⁵⁾
$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial x_{j}} = \frac{\partial f(x_{0})}{\partial x_{j}} - \sum_{i=1}^{m} \lambda_{i} \frac{\partial g_{i}(x_{0})}{\partial x_{j}} = 0$$
 $j = 1, \dots, n;$
 $\frac{\partial F}{\partial x_{si}} = -\lambda_{i} = 0$ $i = 1, \dots, u;$
 $\frac{\partial F}{\partial x_{si}} = \lambda_{i} = 0$ $i = u+1, \dots, v;$
 $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \lambda_{i}} = b_{i} - x_{si} - g_{i}(x) = 0$ $i = 1, \dots, u;$
 $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \lambda_{i}} = b_{i} + x_{si} - g_{i}(x) = 0$ $i = u+1, \dots, v;$
 $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \lambda_{i}} = b_{i} - g_{i}(x) = 0$ $i = u+1, \dots, v;$

 $⁷_{\rm Equations}$ (1) through (5) are taken from the excellent discussion of constrained optimization in (37, pp. 69-71).

Sufficient conditions for f (x) to be a maximum at x_0 are satisfied if the second total differential of f (x_0) is negative (41, p. 272, note 1), a condition which is fulfilled if f (x) is concave. For this analysis, it will be assumed either that second-order conditions are fulfilled, or that f (x) is concave, at least in the range relevant to analysis.

Having derived the desired necessary conditions in the general case alone, an objective function and constraint equations can be specified, relevant to water resource use, and particular necessary conditions derived for optimum resource use. The following assumptions are made in order to simplify and restrict the analysis to the considerations of this study:

> a) there are <u>n</u> perfectly competitive firms using water in amounts x_j , j = 1, ..., n, from a homogeneous supply fixed at \overline{x} ;⁸ b) each firm's production function, in truncated form,⁹ can be written as $Q_j = f_j(x_j)$, where Q_j is the output of the jth firm's product;

> c) resource use decisions are made under an aggregate objective function, expressed in terms of total output of the \underline{n} firms using water.

If the objective is to maximize total value of production, expressed

as

6)	max	Z	$=\sum_{i=1}^{n}$	P,	Q,	$=\sum_{i=1}^{n}$	Ρ;	f,	(x,), ¹	.0
			j=1	j	Ĵ	j=1	Ĵ	j	(^j/,	

⁸Such a group of firms corresponds to a "watershed firm," a concept elaborated and utilized by Timmons. See (85).

⁹In the truncated form of the production function, all other inputs are assumed to be held constant. The necessary conditions for optimum resource use with respect to any single input are identical whether other inputs are constant or variable.

¹⁰The objective function can take this form only if output price is constant regardless of the level of output. This condition is fulfilled in the assumption of perfect competition. where P_j is the price of the jth product, subject to the constraint

7)
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} x_{j} \leq \overline{x},$$

the necessary conditions for maximum Z at x_j^* (j = 1, . . .,n), after adding a slack variable to the constraint, are

8)
$$\frac{\partial F(x^*, x^*_{s}, \lambda^*)}{\partial x_j} = P_j \frac{\partial f_j(x^*_j)}{\partial x_j} - \lambda^* = 0 \quad j = 1, ..., n;$$

9)
$$\frac{\partial F(x^*, x^*_{s}, \lambda^*)}{\partial x_s} = -\lambda^* = 0;$$

10)
$$\frac{\partial F(x^*, x^*_{s}, \lambda^*)}{\partial \lambda} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} x_j + x_s - \overline{x} = 0.$$

Three important relationships are contained in these necessary conditions. First, from equation 8, it can be seen that

11)
$$P_j \frac{\partial f_j(x^*j)}{\partial x_j} = P_i \frac{\partial f_i(x^*i)}{\partial x_i}$$
 i, j = 1,..., n.

 $\frac{\partial f_j(x^*_j)}{\partial x_j} \text{ is the marginal physical product of x in the production of } Q_j, \\ \text{and } P_j \frac{\partial f_j(x^*_j)}{\partial x_j} \text{ represents the value of marginal product (vmp) of x in } \\ \text{the production of } Q_j. \quad \text{Equation 11 defines the critical condition that,} \\ \text{for optimum resource use, the vmp of the resource must be equal in all } \\ \text{its uses.} \end{aligned}$

Second, it can be shown that the following relationship holds:
12)
$$\lambda^* = \frac{\partial Z^*}{\partial \overline{x}}$$
 (37, p. 73).

From this relationship, λ^* can be defined as the shadow price of water and is equal to the value of an additional unit of water. It is apparent from equation 8 that the unit value of water must be equal in all its uses. The third relationship follows from equation 9, and is

13) $x_s^* \lambda^* = 0$ (37, p. 72), which means simply that if $x_s^* > 0$, $\lambda^* = 0$; if $x_s^* = 0$, $\lambda^* \neq 0$. x_s is a slack variable, and is positive only if the supply of water, \overline{x} , is not fully utilized. Therefore, from equation 13, if water is abundant and some of the supply remains unused, then the shadow price, or unit value, of water is zero. 11

Possible Divergences from the Theoretic Optimum Assuming that the second-order conditions noted above are fulfilled, allocation of water such that vmp is equal in all uses implies that the value of the objective function for the watershed firm is a maximum. Whether this maximum is also optimum with respect to larger planning units, such as the basin, state, or nation, depends on the equality of cost and benefit to the watershed firm (marginal private cost and benefit) with marginal cost and benefit to the larger planning area (marginal social cost and benefit). External economies or diseconomies (5, pp. 368-371; 32, pp. 391-394) may be present which cause marginal private cost and benefit and marginal social cost and benefit to diverge.

External economies and diseconomies are of two types: production and consumption (5, p. 369). Water pollution is a pertinent example of an external production diseconomy, in that pollution of water at one point on a stream incurs cost to any downstream user who must resort to substitute supplies or treat the water prior to his own use. Interaction between the production function of the downstream user and the upstream polluter implies that the downstream user must expend more inputs to produce the same output possible with unpolluted water. In this case, the marginal private cost of the polluting firm is less than its marginal social cost, if the pollution it causes is considered to be a negative portion of its output (78, p. 187).

An external production economy, conversely, occurs when marginal social benefit exceeds marginal private benefit (5, p. 369). This type of externality would occur if an upstream water user applying

¹¹Under the same assumptions employed above, plus the assumption that each water user is a profit maximizer, it can be shown that each producer will employ an input until its vmp is equal to the input price (32, p. 309). Therefore, at the optimum, decentralized resource allocation and allocation under an aggregate objective function are theoretically the same, and λ can be considered the market clearing price.

water to a cooling process discharged heated water into a stream from which a downstream user requiring heated water could withdraw. The increase in temperature from the upstream user's operation allows the downstream firm to expend fewer inputs in producing its output, making marginal social benefit greater than marginal private benefit.

External economies and diseconomies which arise from one individual's consumption are defined in much the same way as production externalities. The major difference is that any divergence between marginal social values and marginal private values arises as the result of consumption rather than production.

An important point with respect to external effects is made by Pigou (74, p. 183). He states that the existence of an externality is contingent not only upon the existence of interdependence between two or more producers, but also upon the lack of compensation for benefits or injuries resulting from this interdependence. This point qualifies the statement that external effects tend to cause misallocation of resources (5, p. 371). However, if costs and benefits can be measured, compensation is a remedy which can be applied to enhance optimum resource allocation.

Having established in this chapter a background of concept and theory, Chapter III will discuss the allocative mechanisms under which water resources are controlled in the United States. Following this discussion, the allocative systems will be examined from the theoretic point of view established in this chapter.

CHAPTER THREE: LEGAL SYSTEMS OF WATER RESOURCE ALLOCATION

In the United States, most of the productive resources and factor inputs of the economy are allocated by market processes. Water, however, is one resource which has traditionally not been distributed by a market mechanism. Instead, a number of complex legal allocation systems have developed in the United States, evolving from customs, legislation, and court cases in each state (46, p. 868).

Possibly the most important contributing factor in the growth of non-market allocation systems is the fact that water is a migratory resource; the flow of water does not respond to the delineation of property boundaries and political units. According to Harl (38, pp. 19-20), property rights in such a fugitive resource are generally less certain and unequivocal than rights in other property. Two factors which create uncertainty in a water right are a) the possibility that the water to which the right pertains will not be available, due to variability in physical supply; and b) the possibility that the water may be consumed by an upstream user. Because of the inherent uncertainty in a water right, the quantity of water which the right holder will have available for use is indeterminate. This quantity could vary from zero to the full amount defined by the right, depending upon hydrologic conditions and the exercise of any prior rights.

In turn, uncertainty of quantity leads to a similar uncertainty about price, since the unit price of a commodity generally varies with the quantity demanded or supplied. Establishment of a market in water rights could be inhibited by the lack of a clear price for water.

An additional obstacle to the establishment of a market for water is found in the fact that the use of a unit of water may cause changes in the hydrologic system where the water was used and in the system from which it was drawn if the two systems are not the same. Examples of such concomitant changes are a change in water quality downstream from the point of use or a change in the conditions in an aquifer due to heavy withdrawal at one point. Such external effects as these may have

sutstantial impact on parties who would not ordinarily be represented in any market transaction from which the external effect results. The obvious avenue for redress for such damages resulting from a transfer of water rights would be the courts. In this way, the establishment of legal precedents and principles of water allocation would be expected to accompany competition for water rights, if external effects resulting from transfers of rights are significant.

As a result of the unique character of water, several general legal systems of water allocation have developed in the United States, each adapted to the peculiarities of the region where it is practiced. In general, surface water allocation in the thirty-one eastern states is regulated under the riparian doctrine (94, p. 5), while the seventeen western states have developed a doctrine of appropriative rights (94, p. 5). In several states, administrative allocation systems, such as Iowa's water permit system, have been proposed or enacted (94, p. 5).

In order to provide a framework for evaluating the degree to which the appropriative doctrine, the riparian doctrine, and Iowa's water permit system recognize the necessary conditions for optimum resource use, each legal system will be examined in the role of an optimizing mechanism. Adoption of this point of view provides specific direction to the examination of each legal system, for a viable optimizing mechanism necessarily possesses the following characteristics:

a) a clear, identifiable objective;

 b) provision of a mechanism which can measure and compare selected parameters for decision making; and

c) identification of a set of measurable parameters upon which alternative courses of action can be compared.

The following discussion identifies and examines these characteristics in each of the three legal allocation systems listed above.

The Doctrine of Prior Appropriation

The so-called appropriative doctrine is based on Mexican and Spanish rights, developed in Utah by Mormon settlers and in California by miners after the discovery of gold in that state in 1848 (1, p. 104; 46, p. 867). The doctrine is followed chiefly in the seventeen states west of the Missouri River and in Alaska (1, p. 104; 38, p. 24). These states are characterized by broad similarities in their water allocation systems (46, p. 873): the water resources of the state are under public control by statute (94, pp. 19-20), with management placed in the hands of state officials, and statutory or administrative declaration is made concerning waste and beneficial use of water (46, p. 873).

An appropriative right is based on the "law of the first taker" (55, p. 28), the principle which governed mining rights during the pioneer days. Indeed, the first beneficial uses of water noted in this doctrine were in placer mining and gold refining (90, p. 279). The right has also been called "first in time, first in right" (1, p. 104). Whoever first took possession of water and put it to a beneficial use retains the right to use that water. It is upon this claim in history that an appropriative right is based. The right is defined in priority, quantity, period of use, and point of diversion (1, p. 105; 15, p. 256; 38, p. 27; 43, p. 22; 55, p. 28).

There are two elements of an appropriation (1, pp. 104-105). First, there must be an actual diversion of water, with the intent to apply it to some beneficial use. Second, the water must be applied to that use or some other beneficial use. The concept of beneficial use, as expressed in these elements, is central to the appropriative doctrine (90, p. 277), as evidenced by the maxim that "beneficial use is the basis, the measure and the limit of the right to use water...." (90, p. 277).

A few states list specific uses as beneficial, including domestic, municipal, stock watering, irrigation, manufacturing, and mining (1, p. 106; 38, p. 24; 90, p. 227). States have not, however, provided general definitions of beneficial use (1, p. 106; 90, p. 277), and some opinions hold that the question must be decided separately in each case

(1, p. 106; 90, p. 277). In all states, a use must not only be beneficial to the user, but must also be reasonable with respect to other uses and future demands for water (90, p. 284). The reasonable use criterion is apparently intended to insure that a privately beneficial use is not also socially detrimental. Reasonable use is defined in terms of relative economy and waste in intended uses (90, p. 284).

Centralized state control over appropriation has developed in almost all the western states (1, p. 105), and orders of preference among uses have evolved (39, p. 26; 90, p. 285). There is little general agreement among states on order of preference, except that man's survival needs, including water for drinking, bathing, and sanitation, come first, and navigation and water-based transportation are last (90, p. 286). Other uses, such as irrigation, mining, and manufacturing, vie for the middle ground of priority (90, p. 286). Some states require state officials to grant priorities among appropriations according to statutory preference ranks, while other states allow state officials to exercise discretion in granting priorities (90, p. 285). In both cases, preferences are based on relative benefit (90, p. 285). Under these preference rankings, water may be reallocated in one direction only along the preference scale, from less preferred uses to more preferred uses (90, p. 285). Rights may also be lost by abandonment, forfeiture, or action against an adverse use (1, p. 108).

In general, apart from a transfer of ownership of the land on which the right is based, transfer of an appropriative water right to another type of use or point of diversion is difficult. In some states,¹ a water right may not be transferred from either the original use or the original point of use (94, p. 69). In other states, the party desiring the transfer must prove that no damage will occur to other users of the water supply affected by the transfer (40, p. 22). To prevent loss of return

¹Notable examples are Arizona and Wyoming (40, p.22).

flow by transfer or rights, the general rule has been established that only the amount of consumptive use may be transferred (40, p. 22).

The Riparian Doctrine

In the thirty-one states east of the Missouri, and to a degree in some western states, a system of riparian water rights has developed, from roots in English common law (1, pp. 99-100; 46, p. 867). Central to the riparian doctrine is the concept of riparian land as that land which borders the course of a stream or underground watercourse (1, p. 100; 38, p. 23; 43, p. 6; 55, p. 26). The right of a riparian owner, which exists as a consequence of ownership of riparian land, gives him the use of water flowing in a watercourse which abuts his land, providing the water is returned, unimpaired in quantity and quality, except for impairment inseparable from reasonable use (1, p. 100; 38, pp. 22-23; 43, p. 6). The right is a modification of two legal concepts (38, p. 21; 90, p. 273). The first, the natural flow theory, grants a riparian owner the right to a "...natural condition of flow." (38, p. 21). The second concept, that of reasonable use, was imposed upon the earlier theory in order to allow uses which are consumptive (38, p. 21).

A riparian right is based on the nature of the source and the nature of the use (43, p. 4). Sources are defined as 1) diffused surface water, 2) surface watercourses, 3) underground watercourses, and 4) underground percolating water (43, p.4). Riparian owners may use these types of waters, except as limited by the rights of other riparians and restrictions based on certain categories of use (43, p. 4).

Uses are divided into two major categories, natural and artificial (90, pp. 273-274). Upstream riparian users may, if necessary, consume all the water in a surface watercourse for natural uses (38, p. 22; 43, p. 4; 90, p. 274), which include domestic use and watering an ordinary number of livestock (38, p. 22; 43, p. 4; 90, p. 274). Artificial uses, such as irrigation, industrial use, and municipal water systems (43, p. 8; 90, p. 274), are subordinate to natural uses (43, p. 8). Rights of all riparian owners with respect to actificial uses are coequal (1, p. 101; 17,

p. 877; 43, p. 7; 90, p. 274), and allocation decisions are based on relative reasonableness (43, p. 7). Determinations must be made in each case of how reasonable an intended artificial use will be (1, p. 101; 38, p. 22; 43, p 9; 90, p. 283). No rules of reasonable use have been laid down by courts because what is reasonable in light of the equal rights of other riparians changes as physical, demographic and economic conditions change (1, p. 101; 90, p. 283).

In general, riparian rights are restricted to lands contiguous to the watercourse (1, p. 101; 38, p. 23; 43, p. 9) and contained in the watershed (1, p. 101; 43, p. 9). There are, however, exceptions to both these principles. In some cases, rights to use water have been transferred from riparian to non-riparian lands. In a number of these cases, the riparian land and the non-riparian land were held by different owners. The remainder of the transfers were from riparian land to non-riparian land held by the same owner (59, pp. 55-56; 94, p. 65). In Ohio, a city which is riparian is entitled to take water for use by its residents, even though they may be located outside the watershed (94, p. 16).

As a general rule, riparian rights are not lost by nonuse (1, p. 103), since these rights are not based upon use, but upon ownership of a particular type of land. Only adverse use or eminent domain proceedings can destroy a riparian right (1, p. 103).

Doctrines Governing Underground Water Supplies The two underground water sources differentiated in law are underground watercourses and percolating groundwater (43, p. 4; 44, pp. 232-233; 47, p. 293). This distinction has been criticized by hydrologists as inapplicable, but continues to be observed in law (44, p. 233; 47, p. 294). Underground watercourses are governed by the legal system operating for surface watercourses in the area (44, p. 233; 47, p. 244). Percolating groundwater, which is water underground and not moving in a reasonably defined course (43, p. 9; 44, p. 233; 47, p. 274), is controlled by one of the following three doctrines. One, the

English rule, or the common-law doctrine, grants absolute ownership of the underground water to the overlying landowner (44, p. 233; 47, p. 294). The freedom of use associated with this doctrine led some jurisdictions to apply another doctrine, the American rule of reasonable use (43, p. 9; 47, p. 294), which recognizes the right of the overlying landowner but restricts his use of percolating groundwater with respect to waste or transportation to a distant use (43, p. 9; 44, p. 234; 47, p. 295). The third doctrine controlling percolating groundwater is that of "correlative rights" (44, p. 234; 47, p. 295), found chiefly in California. Under this doctrine, the rights of overlying owners are coequal for reasonable use; any surplus beyond reasonable use by these landowners may be appropriated for use on non-overlying lands, and in shortage situations the available supply is apportioned among overlying landowners in proportion to their reasonable needs (44, p. 234; 47, p. 295).

It appears that the riparian and prior appropriation doctrines, although legally dissimilar, have similar objectives. Each system seeks to provide a mechanism for orderly allocation of water rights, according to the parameters of reasonable and beneficial use. The decisionmaking mechanism in both doctrines is one of adjudication guided by legal principles and precedents. However, in both the appropriative and riparian doctrines, these principles may act to restrain transfer of water to more beneficial uses. The economic significance of these restraints will be examined in a later section of this chapter.

Administrative Allocation: Iowa's Water Permit System Seven of the states under the riparian doctrine² have proposed or enacted programs which modify the riparian doctrine (15, p. 252; 29, p. 237). In some instances, as riparian concepts are modified they are replaced with appropriative concepts (29, p. 252). In other instances, the trend has been toward grants or permits, administered by a central

²The seven states are Florida, Iowa, Maryland, Minnesota, Mississippi, North Carolina, and Wisconsin (94, p. 5).

state authority (29, p. 252; 38, p. 27). Of these modifications, the one most important to this study is that which has been made in Iowa. The Iowa water permit system is similar to earlier proposals in other states (43, pp. 24-25), notably Wisconsin, Minnesota, and North Carolina. This study focuses on the Iowa system. Where significant differences exist between the Iowa system and proposals in other states, these differences are noted.

Iowa's permit system, enacted in 1957, is defined by statute (48). Administrative decisions have been made in implementing the permit system which have become, operationally, a part of the mechanism,³ but the statute which created the permit system nonetheless constitutes its basic framework. For this reason, the analysis in this section will be based mainly on an examination of the provisions in the statute.

Objective of the water permit system

It is difficult to specify an objective for the permit system as an allocative mechanism. The following appears in the statute which creates the Iowa water permit system:

"It is hereby declared that the general welfare of the people of the state of Iowa requires that the water resources of the state be put to beneficial use to the fullest extent of which they are capable, and that the waste or unreasonable use, or unreasonable methods of use, of water be prevented..." (48, sect. 455A.2)

The statement specifies that each use be reasonable, beneficial, and not wasteful, but what constitutes the optimum degree of each is open to some difference of interpretation. The requirement that Iowa's water resources "... be put to beneficial use to the fullest extent of which they are capable..." (48, sect. 455A.2) could be interpreted in at least two distinct ways. First, the statement could mean that a maximum amount of water should be allocated to those uses which can be classified as beneficial. Alternatively, the statement could mean that the state's

 $^{^{3}}$ An excellent review of permit system operations between 1957 and 1967 can be found in Hines (43).

water resources should be allocated among all uses such that total benefit is a maximum. The two interpretations imply different conditions from the point of view of economic theory. Two similar interpretations could follow from the statement that declares control of the state's water resources to be in the state, in order "...to effectuate full utilization..." (48, sect. 455A.2), which could imply either use of a maximum amount of water, or allocation of the state's water resources such that maximum benefit per unit is achieved. Furthermore, there is no indication in the objective statement of whether the general welfare of the people of Iowa is to be maintained, increased, or maximized with respect to water use.

A set of definitions is contained in the statute (48, sect. 455A.1). Most of the terms with which the statute is constructed are defined, with the immediate exception of the terms "general welfare" and "reasonable use." Reference to the following two definitions assists in making the policy statement more specific:

> "'Beneficial use' means the application of water to a useful purpose that inures to the benefit of the water user and subject to his dominion and control but does not include the waste or pollution of water;" (48, sect. 455A.1)

"'Waste' means (a) permitting ground water or surface water to flow, taking it or using it in any manner so that it is not put to its full beneficial use, (b) transporting ground water from its place of use in such a manner that there is an excessive loss in transit, (c) permitting or causing the pollution of a water bearing strata through any act which will cause salt water, highly mineralized water, or otherwise contaminated water to enter it;" (48, sect. 455A.1)

Imposing these definitions on the statute's stated goal (48, sect. 455A.2) facilitates a slightly more precise paraphrase of the statute's objective: the general welfare of the people of Iowa requires that the state's water resources be put to fully beneficial uses to the fullest extent of which they are capable; these uses should be reasonable and cause no pollution or excessive loss in transit of the state's water resources. This restatement of the statute's objective still does not indicate whether maximization is desirable, or which variable or combination of the three variables (general welfare, benefit, and quantity allocated) is to be considered the goal of the system. As a method of selecting among alternative water allocations, Iowa's water permit system has no adequately specific objective statement.

The water permit system's administrative mechanism

To implement its stated policy, the statute creates and vests authority in the Iowa Natural Resources Council (48, sect. 455A.2-.3). Composed of nine members, the Council is charged to "...establish a ...comprehensive state-wide program for the conservation, development and use of the water resources of the state" (48, sect. 455A.17). The statute declares the water occurring naturally within the state to be public wealth of the people of Iowa (48, sect. 455A.2), and gives the Iowa Natural Resources Council jurisdiction over public and private waters in the state. The Council is directed to study and survey the state's water resources and their relation to problems in agriculture, industry, conservation, health, and stream pollution. Recommendations are to be made for further development, utilization, protection, and preservation of these water resources.

The statute provides for the selection of a water commissioner and one or more deputy commissioners, who serve at the Council's pleasure. The commissioner tries fact questions in processing permit applications, and conducts hearings on each application (48, sect. 455A.9).

Although jurisdiction of the Council is broad, not all uses are to be regulated. The following definitions partially limit the scope of regulation:

> "'Depleting use' means the storage, diversion, conveyance, or use of any supply of water which might impair rights of lower or surrounding users, or might impair the natural resources of the state or might injure the public welfare if not controlled;" (48, sect. 455A.1)

"'Regulated use' means any depleting use except a use specifically designated as a nonregulated use;"⁴

⁴(48, sect. 455A.1). Only irrigation uses are regulated under the permit systems of Wisconsin and North Carolina (29, pp. 239, 244).

"'Nonregulated use' means the use of water for ordinary household purposes, use of water for poultry, livestock and domestic animals, any beneficial use of surface flow from rivers bordering the state of Iowa, or use of ground water on islands or former islands situated in such rivers, existing beneficial uses of water within the territorial boundaries of municipal corporations on May 16, 1957, except that industrial users of water, having their own water supply, within the territorial boundaries of municipal corporations, shall be regulated when such water use exceeds three per cent more than the highest per day beneficial use of water by any person of less than five thousand gallons per day;" (48, sect. 455A.1)

A permit is required for all regulated uses as defined above. In addition, diversions of water from the surface to underground which existed prior to May 16, 1957 are exempt if they cause no pollution, but such diversions begun after that date must have a permit.⁵

Thus, a wide range of regulation is established, and the permit instrument is created to control allocation to uses throughout the range. The permit is the council's written authorization for use, limited "...as to quantity, time, place, and rate of diversion, storage or withdrawal..." (48, sect. 455A.1). The procedure for securing a permit is initiated by written application to the Council. The application, accompanied by a fifteen dollar fee, describes the intended beneficial use (48, sect. 455A.19).

Upon receipt of an application, the Council investigates the effect of the intended use upon other interests in the area (48, sect. 455A.18). and the water commissioner sets the date and location of a hearing (48, sect. 455A.19). A notice of the hearing, describing the intended use, must be published in the county of the proposed use prior to the hearing date. Copies of the notice are sent to officials in other interested state agencies, including the Conservation Commission, the Public Health Service, the Iowa Geological Survey, and the Iowa Development Commission (48, sect. 455A.19).

⁵(48, sect. 455A.25). In Minnesota, no use originating within a municipality requires a permit (29, p. 241).

At the hearing, interested parties may appear and present evidence (48, sect. 455A.19). On the basis of due investigation and testimony, the commissioner determines whether the intended use will be detrimental to either the public interest or the interest of any property owners with prior or superior rights. If not, a permit is granted (48, sect. 455A.20). Aggrieved parties may appeal the commissioner's decision to the Council within thirty days, and be granted a hearing before the director (48, sect. 455A.19).

Definition of a set of decision making parameters

The objective statement discussed earlier indicates that a use should be beneficial, reasonable, and not wasteful (48, sect. 455A.2). A beneficial use could be defined as one in which marginal benefit to the user is positive, but the statute specifies no measurable variable to represent this benefit. Waste is said to occur if any use is less than fully beneficial, if there is excessive loss in transporting groundwater, or if pollution of any groundwater is allowed through the introduction of any contaminated water into the supply (48, sect. 455A.1). Beyond the reference in this definition, what constitutes pollution is not specified, but water quality standards have been formulated under separate authority (50).

It is possible to classify uses as beneficial or not, based on the qualifications of waste and pollution. Deciding among alternative beneficial uses, however, requires that the alternatives be ranked. The statute provides that applications are to receive consideration based on date of application, and that certain uses existing prior to May 16, 1957 will be granted priority according to date of use (48, sect. 455A.21). In addition, the statute states that if no detriment to public or private interest can be found in an intended use, the commissioner "...shall grant a permit..." (48, sect. 455A.20) for that use. If not all uses can be satisfied, these standards and priorities may not aid in achieving the statute's objective, for they do not provide assistance in measuring relative benefit.

The importance of beneficial use is reinforced by statements granting the Council authority to issue permits to these uses (48, sect. 455A.22) and declaring that in the disposition of applications, the standard is to be beneficial use (48, sect. 455A.21). Relative benefit would then seem to be the critical factor in ranking alternative allocations, but since benefit is not defined so as to allow measurement, comparison among uses on this basis is not possible unless administrative judgments are made. (The costs of waste and pollution are measurable in theory, but since any use for which these costs are positive is not permitted, measurement is irrelevant.)

On the basis of the preceding discussion, it is apparent that the statute is unclear or incomplete on two vital points. First, its objective is not stated in unique, measurable terms. Second, the criterion of benefit from use, on which comparison and allocation among competing uses would be made, is not defined in measurable terms. Therefore, comparisons among uses are not possible. In a situation of inadequate supply, the permit system's ability to achieve optimum allocation of water resources could be increased if its objective were stated so that the performance of the system could be measured, and if a more viable criterion were given by which alternative allocations could be ranked.

Thus far, the analysis has concentrated on an assessment of the permit system's ability to achieve optimum allocation of the state's water resources given static conditions of requirement and supply. Another important facet of the system's optimizing ability is its responsiveness to changing physical, economic, and demographic conditions. To assist in examining this aspect of the permit system, a set of terms suggested by Ciriacy-Wantrup (15) will be used. These terms, "rigidity", "protection", and "security", denote nonresponse, while the term "flexibility" denotes responsiveness (15, p. 252). With respect to the permit system, rigidity refers to the lack of permit mobility among alternative uses. Protection refers to the assurance given a permit holder by the permit system that his water right is

protected against unlawful acts by others; this is a legal topic, beyond the scope of this analysis. Security can be thought of as protection against tenure uncertainty, which is the possibility that a right may be lost to superior rightholders, or physical uncertainty, which is the possibility of loss of right due to flow variability.

One component of the rigidity which the Iowa permit system possesses could decrease absolutely over time. This rigidity is found in certain rights which were to be preserved after the enactment of the statute (48, sect. 455A.23). As these prior uses are discontinued, more flexible allocations may take their place. However, the requirement that a low flow be protected in all watercourses (48, sect. 455A.22) represents a component of rigidity which could increase in relative importance in a time of general shortage. The uses for which the minimum flow is protected are the nonregulated uses, which are assured a top priority as long as there is flow in the stream. If flow decreases, regulated uses may be required to cease, while nonregulated uses are assured an increasing share of available flow.

Security is provided in the statute against both tenure uncertainty and physical uncertainty. Some protection against the physical uncertainty of variable flow is accorded to nonregulated uses by established low flow standards. Protection of this flow requires that consumptive uses cease when they endanger the protected flow, while nonconsumptive withdrawals may continue as long as flow is adequate. Thus, regulated consumptive uses are least secure, regulated nonconsumptive uses more secure, and nonregulated uses most secure from physical uncertainty.

Protection against tenure uncertainty is practically complete for nonregulated uses, as long as the minimum flow requirement stands. For permitted uses, this protection is less certain, as there are several ways a permit may be revoked or suspended. Violation of the terms of the permit or nonuse of the allocated water allow the water commissioner to revoke the permit (48, sect. 455A.20). In cases of emergency, the commissioner may suspend the permit for no more than thirty days.⁶ Otherwise, permission of the user is required before a permit may be revoked (48, sect. 455A.20), and the permit is secure for its duration, at most ten years (48, sect. 455A.20).

Flexibility, reflecting responsiveness in the permit system to changing conditions, is limited. Partially because of the security aspects discussed above, allocation may be inflexible for the duration of the permits granted. Greater inflexibility arises from the stipulation that permits can be transferred only if ownership of the property on which the water is used is transferred (48, sect. 455A.30). If changes in demand or supply make current allocations suboptimal, to move toward optimization requires not only the ability to change existing allocations, but the ability to identify those uses which would increase total benefit. The Iowa water permit system possesses neither of these abilities.

Economic Interpretations of Legal and Permit System Allocation

Graphical representation of a hypothetical production function

Figure la shows the shape of a hypothetical production function for the jth product, embodying the assumption that marginal physical product (mpp), as shown in Figure 1b, first increases and then diminishes as water use increases, if all other inputs are held constant. Such a production function can be divided into three stages as follows (32, pp. 122-123):

Stage I: $\{x \mid o \leq x \leq a\}$; point <u>a</u> is the point of maximum average physical product; Stage II: $\{x \mid a \leq x \leq b\}$; at point <u>b</u>, total product is a maximum and mpp = 0; Stage III: $\{x \mid x > b\}$. Beyond <u>b</u>, total product declines as additional water is used; mpp ≤ 0 .

⁶(48, sect. 455A.20). In Minnesota, a permit may be cancelled for any reason for protection of the public interest (29, p. 241).


It can be shown that no rational producer would continue operating in stage I, where average physical product is increasing.⁷ Instead, he would increase water use beyond point <u>a</u>. A rational producer, in most cases, would also restrict water use to $x \leq b$, for beyond <u>b</u>, water is not only wasted, but total physical product is decreased with every additional unit of water.

Thus, analysis can be restricted to stage II, in which a rational producer would operate, and stage III, where production implies that water is being wasted. From the general necessary conditions for optimum resource use developed in Chapter II, two conclusions are obvious. First, if total water use is less than the available amount, $vmp = \lambda = 0$, ⁸ and optimum allocation occurs at <u>b</u>. Second, if total potential water use is greater than or equal to the available amount, $vmp = \lambda > 0$, and optimum allocation occurs between <u>a</u> and <u>b</u>, with the particular allocation depending upon the value of vmp.

Recognition of necessary conditions in centralized allocation systems

In measuring relative worth of water in alternative uses, the appropriative doctrine, the riparian doctrine, and the Iowa permit system all depend upon criteria developed in statutory or case law. For all systems, the criteria are similar. The appropriative doctrine ranks uses according to their relative benefit, contingent upon the

32Ъ

 $^{^{7}}$ This can be seen intuitively by considering that as use of x is increased from x = 0 to x = a, the producer experiences increasing returns to x; in this range, increasing x increases the return to all units of x. It would be logical to continue to increase x until the point x = a is reached. Furthermore, in the interval $0 \le x \le a$, the marginal physical product of any fixed input is negative (32, p. 123).

 $^{^{8}}$ vmp = output price x mpp; under the assumption of perfect competition made in Chapter II, output price is constant regardless of the level of output. Therefore, the vmp curve and the mpp curve are similarly shaped, and are equal to zero at point <u>b</u>.

existence of a preference ranking within the jurisdiction. The riparian doctrine states the priority of natural uses over artificial uses, and maintains that the riparian owner has the right to reasonable use of the flow across his riparian land. In times of scarcity, allocation is made based on relative reasonableness, defined in terms of benefit to the user. The permit system in Iowa requires that a use be beneficial to the user, and as in the riparian and appropriative doctrines, disallows waste.

A use is beneficial to the user if the vmp of water in that use is positive. This fact implies that such a user will be operating in stage II of his production function, as discussed in the previous section, since no rational producer would continue operating in stage I. Water use will also not occur in stage III, since in stage III the use is both nonbeneficial and wasteful.⁹ The only two points, therefore, which the appropriative doctrine, the riparian doctrine, and Iowa's permit system define are those two points where vmp is zero: at zero input use, and at maximum total physical product. No point between these two extremes is defined.

For abundant water supplies, this lack of definition is unimportant, since vmp of abundant water is zero. However, if the supply is scarce, then vmp becomes positive. Optimum allocation of a scarce supply occurs at some point where vmp is positive; none of the three legal allocation systems identifies such a point without judicial or administrative procedure.

Iowa's permit system, by inhibiting free transfer of water rights (48, sect. 455A.30), precludes the operation of a market for water rights. Such a market would, in theory, tend to allocate water rights in an optimal manner. Since no market exists, and the permit system does not define the necessary conditions for optimum resource use, the following chapters describe the construction of a model to generate estimates of optimum resource use.

⁹This is untrue if the production function is horizontal in the interval $x \ge a$. In this case, water use beyond x = a does not produce negative benefits, but is nevertheless wasteful.

CHAPTER FOUR: HYPOTHESIS

Hypotheses, as guides to inquiry, are propositions concerning cause-effect relationships (33, pp. 41-53). Depending upon the objectives of an analysis, its hypotheses may be described as problem delimiting, diagnostic, or remedial (86, p. 24). Problem delimiting hypotheses illustrate the nature of a problem in terms of divergences between existing situations and desired goals. Diagnostic hypotheses attempt to explain why a problem exists, and remedial hypotheses describe methods by which the desired goal can be reached.

The hypothesis constructed to guide this analysis is problem delimiting, and it is based upon the following two assumptions:

 Iowa's water permit system was designed to be an optimizing institution, one which allocates water rights such that progress is maximized toward some goal or set of goals.

2) The set of goals toward which the permit system is designed to move includes goals of equity, security, and economic growth.

The equity concept in the permit system's assumed goal set refers to a distribution of wealth throughout society consistent with generally accepted standards of distributive justice (78, pp. 59-69). In the context of water rights allocation, the goal of security refers to the assurance of a right holder that his water right will not be lost for at least some specified time period.¹ There are static and dynamic aspects of the goal of economic growth. Investment is the dynamic aspect,

¹According to Ciriacy-Wantrup (15), a water right holder faces physical uncertainty, for flow may not always be sufficient to meet his needs; legal uncertainty, in that his water right may be infringed upon due to the illegal acts of others; and tenure uncertainty, whereby his water right may be lost due to the actions of others with prior or superior rights. Dams, impoundments, and other physical structures provide a degree of security against the physical uncertainty of variable supply, and legal systems provide security or recourse against loss under legal uncertainty. Security of tenure, however, is one of the protections which systems of water rights allocation seek to provide.

inasmuch as net investment in capital goods increases the productive capacity of the economy. The static aspect is efficiency, which refers to that allocation of resources and output which maximizes social benefit (78, pp. 59-69).

Given assumptions (1) and (2), it is possible to construct the following general hypothesis: Iowa's water permit system, in situations of insufficient water supply, will optimally allocate Iowa's water resources, where optimum allocation maximizes movement toward the set of goals assumed in (2). A study of this general hypothesis would require both static and dynamic analyses of the effect of water allocation on equity, security, efficiency, and investment in Iowa. Consideration of all these questions is beyond the scope of this analysis; therefore, a more restricted, operational hypothesis is used as a guide.

Only efficiency, the static dimension of economic growth, is examined in this analysis. Further, analysis will be confined to considerations of short-run efficiency.² In addition to defining a problem of manageable proportions, the analysis focuses on this single goal for two reasons. First, the theory of short-run efficiency is relatively complete, and several analytical techniques exist upon which a model can be built. Second, it will be shown in Chapter V that the model used in this analysis can be adapted to account for considerations of equity, security, and investment. With these restrictions, the "working hypothesis" (33, pp. 46-47) is as follows: Iowa's water permit system will achieve efficient short-run allocation of Iowa's water resources in situations of scarce water supply.

It was noted in Chapter I that since the inception of the permit system in 1957, only two permit applications have been refused, and that each of these requested a permit to dispose of excess surface water. Therefore, the hypothesis above will not be empirically tested in this

 $^{^{2}}$ That period over which all inputs are variable is the long run (32, pp. 107-108). One of the inputs held constant in the short run is capital, which is consistent with the decision not to examine the investment goal.

study, since the problem of allocating an insufficient water supply apparently has not arisen.³ However, this hypothesis will be illustrated by a linear programming model. This model will show optimum water allocation in a given situation, which can be compared with the allocation which might result from operation of the permit system in the same situation.

³According to Hines (43, pp. 38-39, note 179), permits are often granted according to terms more restrictive than those requested by the applicant. In some cases, the amount of water granted is less than that applied for, but these reductions are often the result of an applicant's request for more than a reasonable amount of water for his use (43, p. 38). Shortages of water which necessitate critical allocation decisions apparently have yet to occur.

CHAPTER FIVE: GENERAL LINEAR PROGRAMMING MODEL FOR RESOURCE USE

A linear programming model was chosen in this analysis primarily because of the excellent correspondence between the requirements of the problem and the features of this type of model. Because of the wide acceptance and frequent use of linear programming as an empirical tool in economic analysis, no theoretical discussion of the technique will be given.¹ Instead, the points of correspondence between the problem and the tool will be summarized.

As an analytical technique, linear programming can be applied to many types of situations. A common type of problem is that of finding the optimum levels of a number of alternative activities, when these activities are constrained by fixed quantities of available inputs. This is analogous to the problem under consideration in this thesis: identification of the set of activities which makes optimum use of a fixed water supply.

Another advantage of using a linear program can be found in the primal-dual relationship.² The relevant implication of this relationship can be summarized in the following way. For every linear programming problem there exists simultaneously another programming problem, called the "dual" of the original problem (which is known as the primal). The primal-dual relation is symmetric, and if the primal is a maximization problem, the dual is a minimization problem. Further, if the primal objective is to maximize the value of output subject to input constraints, then the objective of the dual is to minimize the "shadow prices" (5, p. 110), or internally imputed values of the inputs. Thus, the solution to the dual generates for each input in the primal a value which corresponds to the Lagrange multiplier discussed in Chapter II.

¹Full discussions of linear programming can be found in (5, pp. 70-128), (36), and (82, pp. 88-171).

²For discussions of duality, see <u>supra</u>, note 1.

The dual optimum solution tells by how much the value of the objective function would be increased if an additional unit of each of the primal inputs were available.

A further advantage in the use of a linear programming model is its flexibility. Such a model can be used to describe allocation problems involving only a few alternative uses for a scarce water supply as well as allocation problems in which there are many diverse alternative uses. A linear program can also be used for single-period analysis or, with minor modifications, for multi-period analysis in a recursive framework. For multi-period analysis, a recursive linear program can also be linked with a simulation model which provides exogenous data to the linear program for each succeeding time period. For any period, this information is based on the reaction of simulated physical or economic systems to the results of the linear program's optimum solution in the preceding period.³

Model Structure

The model described in this chapter is simplistic in its nature, endeavoring to provide the desired information with a minimum amount of required data input. Only the short run, as defined in Chapter IV, is considered. However, within this limited scope, the model exhibits dynamic properties in considering seasonal variation in water requirements and supplies. The time period of the model is defined as one year, but in applying the model to any given area, the year can be partitioned into single months or groups of months. The time periods would be constructed to illustrate seasonal fluctuations in water requirements and supplies and transfer of water supply from month to month through storage facilities. In the application in this study, four groups of months are defined, as shown in Chapter VI.

³For an example of such an application, see (39).

The aforementioned single-year approach notwithstanding, multiyear applications can be made with relative ease. This could be done either by solving the model once for each year in the interval considered, or by solving the model for the first and last years of the interval. In either case, changing conditions would be denoted by corresponding changes in the model's coefficients and parameters between solutions.

The form of the model is as follows:

maximize $Z = c'X^P$

subject to

$$A \begin{bmatrix} x^{P} \\ x^{s} \\ x^{r} \end{bmatrix} \leq b$$
$$x^{P} \leq \overline{x}^{P}$$
$$x^{s} \leq \overline{x}^{s}$$
$$x^{r} \gg \overline{x}^{r}$$

 $[x^{p}, x^{s}, x^{r}] \ge 0.$

The variables have the following dimensions:

- c is a p-vector;
- 2) X^P is a <u>p</u>-vector; X^s is an <u>s</u>-vector; X^r is an <u>r</u>-vector; p + s + r = n;
- 3) A is an m x n matrix;
- 4) b is an m-vector.

The primal form of the model is composed of four components: a set of activity variables, $[X^P, X^s, X^r]$; a matrix A of technical coefficients; a set of constraint parameters, $[b, \overline{X}^P, \overline{X}^s, \overline{X}^r]$; and an objective function, c'X^P. The dual form, which generates the shadow price of each primal input, is determined once the primal is defined. The structure of each of the model's components is dictated in part by the type of information the model is intended to provide. The model is constructed to find the optimum level of water using activities in an area. No attempt is made to specify the optimum combination of

activities within each agricultural or industrial water user's operation. It is assumed that this optimization has already occurred within each firm.⁴ Each of the four primal components will be described in the following section.

Activities

For any time period, the model's set of activity variables represents each actual or potential use to which water withdrawn from specific sources considered in the model can be put. These activity variables fall into three subsets which can be defined as follows:

> a) X^{P} , the set of uses demanding water as an input to a production process. The assumption that each firm has found the optimum combination of technological alternatives for the production of each of its products implies that there is only one process per product. There will be, therefore, one X_{j} for each product produced in the area under consideration. The production function of each of these activities is defined by assumption to be $X_{j} = f_{j}$ (water, land, labor, capital_j), X_{j} X^{P} . Each of these inputs is subject to a constraint on the amount available per time period.

In this study, most activities in X^P are represented by aggregate sectors defined in Table 22, Appendix A. These sectors are composed of a number of manufacturing or non-manufacturing activities producing the same type of output. The output of any of these sectors is a fictional product type, so that the shadow price of water in that activity does not refer to any particular product, but to an aggregate of the products in the sector. Such general shadow prices are useful in determining the value of water in these sectors, but for some activities, more specific information may be desirable.

4This two-stage decision-making process is developed in (68).

Where information is desired with respect to a specific product, an activity is defined which represents the production of that product.

Meat packing, cattle feed lots, corn production, and soybean production are represented specifically in application of the model. The level of each of these activities is measured in physical output units. All other activities in X^P are represented by aggregate sectors. Output in each of these activities is measured in money valued units, which are defined below in the section discussing the model's objective function.

> b) X^{S} , the set of uses which represent treatment of water to change its time, quality, or location characteristics. Included in this subset are municipal water treatment and water pollution control plants, as well as storage and transport facilities. Each of these activities is assumed to have a production function of the same type shown in (a) above for X^{P} , the producing activities. The unit in which activities in X^{S} are expressed is one thousand gallons of water.

> c) X^r , in part, a set of public water uses in which water can be conceived as a commodity, yielding utility directly by its use. Residential use and recreation are included in this subset, as well as an activity for each surface stream source in the model, representing use of water to satisfy the "protected low flow" requirement of the permit system (48, sect. 455A.1). Also included in X^r is an activity to represent the amount of water which must remain in a source to service the rights of downstream permit holders who are not explicitly represented in the model. Activities in X^r are measured in units of one thousand gallons of water.

Technical coefficients

The model's matrix of technical coefficients consists of ratios defining the amount of each resource required for the production of a unit of each activity. For each $X_j = f_j$ (water, land, labor, capital) $\forall X_j \in X^P$, X^S , there is a technical coefficient for each input in the production function. For domestic use there are two coefficients, one representing transfer of water either from a source or a treatment activity to a public use, the other representing transfer of waste water from domestic use to a treatment facility. For recreation and flow protection, a single coefficient for each represents net use per period from sources in the model.

All water use coefficients show net consumption per unit of activity, except where withdrawals are from one source and discharge is into another source, or where water inputs and waste water outputs are treated by separate facilities. In each case, both coefficients must be explicitly accounted for to show movement of water from one supply to another. Consumption of location, quality, or time utility in water supplies can be illustrated in this way, differentiating water supplies according to these three parameters.

Constraint parameters

The set of constraint parameters contains components representing the maximum amount of each resource available to the model per time period. Water, land, and labor are represented by elements of the b vector.⁵ Each of these resource classes is heterogeneous and can be divided into more homogeneous subclasses. The number of

⁵Within the system Ax≼b, the following specific constraint inequalities can be identified:

let
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{1j} X_{j} \leq b_{1}$$
$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{2j} X_{j} \leq b_{2}$$
$$\vdots \qquad (footnote continued on following page).$$

subclasses used is determined by the amount of detailed information desired from the model. A shadow price is generated for each resource subclass delineated, but more detailed input data are required as the number of subclasses increases.

Consistent with this relation between input data and output information, the water and land resources in the model are differentiated, while the labor resource is considered homogeneous. This is done for the water resource because information is desired concerning the differential value in use of various water supplies. Land is subclassified because there is evidence⁶ that some agricultural activities have a

(footnote continued from previous page) n a_{uj} X_j b_u express the area water use constraints; i = 1n $a_{u+1j} X_j b_{u+1}$ j=1 n $a_{u+2j} X_{j} b_{u+2}$ j=1 n $a_m-l_j X_j \quad b_{m-1}$ express the area land use constraints; and j=1 n a_{mj} X_j b_m express the area labor force constraint. 1=1

⁶In Arizona, where water is generally scarce, Young and Martin (107) showed personal income generated per acre foot of water used to be approximately 1000 times higher in manufacturing than in the highestvalued crop use.

significantly lower return to a scarce water resource than some industrial activities. By considering return to water used in alternative activities on different types of land, planning decisions could be made which would enhance the movement of water used on low productivity agricultural land into higher productivity agricultural or industrial uses.

Labor supply could also be considered in this manner. However, labor is a relatively mobile resource both geographically and occupationally. Further, knowledge of the magnitude of the return to water used by labor subclasses is of doubtful value. For these seasons, labor is treated as a homogenous resource class.

Available capital inputs to activities in the model are considered to be fixed in any time period. Each activity which requires capital operates under a constraint on the available amount of fixed plant and equipment. This constraint can be expressed either as a physical quantity representing the production capacity of each of the activities, or as the dollar value of available fixed plant and equipment. For activities in the producing sector, X^P , the constraint is denoted by \overline{X}^P ; for water supply activities, X^S , the constraint is denoted by \overline{X}^S . By the hypothesis in Chapter IV, investment is disregarded in this analysis, but \overline{X}^P and \overline{X}^S could be changed between periods in a dynamic analysis to allow for consideration of investment.

Objective function

The model's objective function follows from the hypothesis in Chapter IV, in which the analysis is restricted to considerations of short-run efficiency in water allocation. By definition (78, p. 148), efficient allocation is that which maximizes social benefit gained in the use of water; therefore, the model's objective is to maximize social benefit.

Social benefit is difficult to measure, for it includes not only the dollar-valued output of goods and services, but also many items which have no readily discernible market value. For instance, social benefit from water use includes the benefit derived from such water uses as

recreation and conservation. Further, water is necessary to sustain life, and its value in fulfilling this function is difficult to quantify. Because of these difficulties, it is necessary to find a proxy for social benefit.

In this study, the proxy used is based upon the value of output of the producing activities in the model; these activities are represented by the elements of X^P . Value of output is represented by $\sum_{j=1}^{p} P_j X_j$, where P_j is the unit price of the output of X_j . However, value of output may include payments to factors not located in the area affected by the hydrologic system under consideration. Therefore, for each activity X_j , these payments are excluded from the objective function by the method described below.

For each activity, total value of product is assumed to be exhausted by payments to the various inputs and factors of production, as expressed by the following relationship:

Product value/unit of X = Wages and Salaries/unit of X +

Materials Cost/unit of X_j + Other Income/unit of X_j . The several terms of this relationship are defined as follows:

a) Wages and Salaries/unit of X_j is the portion of product value paid to those whose labor is expended in production of the jth product.

b) Materials Cost/unit of X_j is the portion of product value paid to purchase the materials which are part of the jth product, including materials imported from outside the area.

c) Other income/unit of X_j is the remainder of product value, including profits, return on capital invested, and rents according to land and water in the production of X_j .

The element in the objective function corresponding to X is

 c_j = Product Value/unit of X_j-Materials Cost/unit of X_j = Wages and Salaries/unit of X_j + Other Income/unit of X_j.

Thus, each activity is weighted according to the portion of its product value earned by those factors of production local to the hydrologic system

under study. These factors are labor, land, water, fixed capital, and managerial ability.

By excluding the cost of materials from the objective function coefficient, two problems are avoided. First, any payments for materials produced outside the model area are excluded; these payments do not represent benefit to individuals in the model area. Second, excluding materials cost insures that only the value of final production is measured.⁷

There are at least three theoretical difficulties in using a portion of product value to approximate social benefit. First, if there are any external effects present in the model area, marginal private cost and benefit may not be equal to marginal social cost and benefit, respectively. In this case, the market value of output does not represent its value to society; if marginal social benefit exceeds marginal private benefit, output value understates social benefit. If marginal private benefit exceeds marginal social benefit, which is the case where air and water pollution result from production, the value of output overstates social benefit.

Another difficulty is that an increase in output, while increasing some individual's benefit, may decrease the benefit derived by others. If this occurs, it is not possible to specify whether social benefit has increased, because no method for making interpersonal utility comparisons exists at this time (78, p. 64). A third difficulty in the use of a portion of total output value to approximate social benefit is that this measurement conceals any changes in either the quality of the several outputs produced, or in the relative proportions in which these outputs are produced (output mix). Changes in both output quality and output mix can influence social benefit.

⁷Bread is a final product, the value of which includes the value of the flour used in its production. Flour is an intermediate product, and to add the value of bread production and the value of flour production would be to count the value of flour twice. See (75, pp. 183-186).

Notwithstanding the existence of these difficulties, the objective function of the model is defined as

 $Z = c'X^P$

where c_j = Product Value/unit of X_j-Materials Cost/unit of X_j = Wages

and Salaries/unit of $X_j + 0$ ther Income/unit of X_j , j=1,...,p. Those activities which are treated specifically are measured in physical production units; the corresponding element in c is the price per unit for that product. Those activities represented by aggregate sectors are measured in dollar-valued output units. These units are defined to be the amount of production required to generate a one dollar increase in product value from that sector. c_j , as defined above, is the product value per unit of output. Therefore, the unit of measurement of each activity in X^P represented by an aggregate sector is c_jX_j , and the coefficient in the objective function is actually unity. The objective function of the model is identical to that defined above, $Z = c'X^P$.

The coefficients in the objective function associated with elements in X^S , the water-supply activities, and X^r , the residual social water uses, are defined to be zero in all activities except one because most water in Iowa presently has no market price. Therefore, the value of a unit of treated water, which derives from the use of that unit in production of consumption uses, cannot be directly measured, nor can the value of a unit of water used in human consumption, recreation, or low-flow protection. The activities in X^r are instead constrained to appear in the solution, while the activities in X^S will appear at some positive level due to linkages with activities in both X^P and X^r .

In one application of the model, one activity in X^S is assigned a negative coefficient in the objective function. This activity represents treatment of a polluted water supply. It differs from the activity representing treatment of a less polluted supply only in the objective function coefficient assigned to each. The negative c_j is the amount per unit by which treatment costs are increased by the presence of pollutants in the water supply.

Interpretation of the Solution

Solution of the model yields an activity set $[X^{P*}, X^{S*}, X^{r*}]$ which maximizes the value of the objective function. Optimal water use in activities in X^P must be calculated indirectly from the optimal solution since these activities are expressed in terms of output units. For X_j^* , $\forall X_j \in X^P$, water use is calculated by multiplying X_j^* , the optimum level of that activity, by its technical coefficient of water use (water used per unit of output). From any water supply represented by b_{α} , the water used in activities in X^P would be equal to $\sum_{j=1}^{p} a_{\alpha j} X_j^*$. Total water use in activities in X^P from all sources would be obtained by $\sum_{j=1}^{p} a_{jj} X_j^*$

for all water sources, b1, b2, ... bu.

Activities in X^S and X^r are expressed in units of one thousand gallons of water. Total water use in these activities would be $\sum_{i=1}^{u} \sum_{j=p+1}^{n} a_{ij} X_{j}^{*}, \text{ while total water use in all activities would be given by}$ $\sum_{i=1}^{u} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} X_{j}^{*}.$

Also generated are shadow prices for each constraint. For the b vector, the shadow prices represent the value of an additional unit of land, labor, or water resource. For \overline{x}^P , \overline{x}^s , and \overline{x}^r , the shadow prices have an analogous interpretation. However, the shadow prices associated with each parameter in \overline{x}^r represent the amount by which the objective function would be increased if minimum requirements for public use were lowered by one unit. This value, while not a price, is an opportunity cost measure which could be an aid in planning, expecially with respect to water reserved for residential, recreational, or flow protection uses.

Changes in Parameters

To express actual or proposed changes in water supply or requirements in an area, the parameters of the model can be changed. Population growth, for example, can be expressed by increasing the amount of water reserved for residual and municipal use. Increased recreation use can be represented analogously. Increases in industrial or agricultural requirements can be shown by raising the limit of the constraining resource (land, labor, capital, or water) and allowing that activity to expand.

Secular changes in water quality levels can also be represented by shifting quantities of water from high quality supplies in the model to lower quality supplies. If an increased cost is shown to be associated with use of lower quality supplies, the value of treatment will be reflected. By identifying the source of quality degradation and identifying the consequence area where treatment finally takes place, the model may also provide planning information for quality improvement programs.

Adapting the Model to Multi-Dimensional Goals

Considering only the one-dimensional goal of short-run efficiency implies that this goal is independent of the goals of equity, security, and investment. If the four goals are independent, maximization with respect to any single goal is not inconsistent with maximization in terms of any or all of the other three. Operationally, this assumption may be unwarranted. Security and investment are related in that, for planning purposes, the length of time over which a water-related investment must pay for itself (the planning horizon) depends upon how long the investor's water right is assured. For a given rate of return, the maximum feasible investment decreases as the planning horizon becomes shorter, while for investments of a given size, higher rates of return must be forthcoming as the planning horizon is shortened. Equity and efficiency are also not mutually exclusive. Efficient resource allocation given current income distribution may be inefficient if income is redistributed to be more equitable.

In a model designed to show short-run efficiency, these interactions can be shown as additional constraints. As an example, if an increase in investment is desired, those activities in which investment is desired can be granted permits for the maximum allowable period, shown in the model by reducing the amount of available water in

succeeding time periods by this secured amount. The model also shows which activity will have the greatest direct increase in output and employment from the use of additional water.

Investigation of the effect of permit security could take the form of a constraint representing, in successive iterations of the model, the amount of water secured from reallocation by permits in force. Under each different assumed permit duration, the model could be reiterated yearly for a specified time period, and the present value of each year's production computed. These present values could then be summed over the time period for which the model was run, and compared with the present values associated with each assumed permit duration.

CHAPTER SIX: APPLICATION OF THE GENERAL MODEL

The model described in Chapter V is applied to two situations in this chapter. One application is to a hypothetical water use situation. Apparently, no water shortage exists presently in Iowa which is serious enough to affect a diverse group of economic activities.¹ Therefore, the hypothetical situation is constructed to illustrate the use of the model more completely than could application to an existing situation of limited scope in Iowa.

The second application of the model is to the use, by existing activities, of water from a shallow sand and gravel aquifer, located near an Iowa town of approximately 5000 population. This application encompasses fewer activities and a more abundant water supply than the hypothetical situation, but it illustrates what could be considered a typical application of the model in a real situation. These applications, designated I and II respectively, are described in the following sections.

Application I: A Hypothetical Water Use Situation The water use situation under study in application I is illustrated in Figure 2. In this situation, water may be used in crop and livestock agriculture, industry, and domestic uses. The water supply on which these uses depend is a stream with a 20 square mile drainage area. The flow in this situation is assumed to be dependent upon rainfall in the basin. The mathematical relation expressing this dependence is shown in a later section discussing the model's resource parameters.

The annual time frame of the general model described in Chapter V is partitioned into four time periods in application I. These time periods are constructed to reflect the seasonal variation in water supply and in the water requirements of the agricultural activities. The time periods are as follows:

¹Interviews with officials of the Iowa Water Commissioner's staff and the U. S. Geological Service, as well as with members of the Iowa State University faculty in several departments failed to reveal any situation of scarcity.





period 1 - November through April; period 2 - May and June; period 3 - July and August; period 4 - September and October.

Figure 3 shows these time periods superimposed upon the distribution of annual rainfall by months. It can be seen that period I contains the winter months of low rainfall while period 2 contains the spring months, which have the highest average rainfall of the year. Period 3 contains those months during which rainfall reaches its lowest level for the summer season, while period 4 contains a peak which occurs as rainfall increases from the low level of period 3 and begins to decrease to the winter season low rainfalls.

Crop water requirements during the growing season also fluctuate. The time periods defined above serve to isolate the period of maximum crop water requirements for crops considered in application I. According to Shaw, <u>et al</u>. (80a), estimated average water requirements for corn during the periods defined above are as follows:

> period 1 - 4.9 inches; period 2 - 7.1 inches; period 3 - 10.7 inches; period 4 - 5.1 inches.

The time periods of the model, as they are defined, allow for the juxtaposition of rainfall and crop water requirements in such a way as to isolate those periods during which supplemental irrigation may be required.

Activities

Figure 2 shows the arrangement of activities in the situation represented in model application I. One central feature of this arrangement is the relationship of the pork slaughtering activity to the town. If, as is assumed in the model, significant pollution results from slaughter operations, the town downstream, which has no alternative supply, must bear the cost of removing this pollution from the water withdrawn for municipal use. This assumed relationship creates a



Figure 3. Distribution of Rainfall Through Assumed Time Periods, Application I(80, p.7)

framework in which to study the feasibility of using the stream between the pork plant and the town as an effluent carrier.

The reservoir is included to illustrate the value of transfer of water between time periods. Inclusion of this facility also allows consideration of the competition between recreation, for which a stable reservoir level is desirable, and water storage, for which a fluctuating water level may at times be necessary.

Two soil types are shown in the hypothetical situation so that comparisons can be made between the value of water used in crop production on each soil type. Further, the cattle feed lot operation is located on irrigable land, so that the value of water in different agricultural uses on the same soil type can be calculated.

In this section, each activity in application I is defined. Each activity's coefficient of resource use and its coefficient in the objective function are shown in tabular form. The derivation of each of these coefficients is explained in the text. The four variables listed below for each activity designate that activity in each of the four time periods of the model.

The producing sector (XP)

<u>Agricultural activities</u> There are five activities in the agricultural portion of the producing sector. They are a cattle feed lot, corn production on the two soil types, and soybean production on the two soil types. Aside from differences in yield due to soil type as shown in Table 19, Appendix A, the crop activities are defined similarly, so that comparisons can be made of the value of water in each crop on the same soil type.

Crop activities on Tama silty clay loam are designated Corn Production I and Soybean Production I. Crop activities on Clarion loam are designated Corn Production II and Soybean Production II. Each agricultural activity withdraws water from the stream shown in Figure 2. The activities are defined as follows:

 X_1 , X_{25} , X_{49} , X_{73} - Cattle Feed Lot, which utilizes land, labor, water withdrawn from the stream in Figure 2, and capital as illustrated

Tables la and lb. The activity involves feeding heifer calves, which are purchased at 400 pounds, fed a high roughage feed for 288 days, and sold at 925 pounds. Feed lots can be considered completely consumptive water uses, since liquid waste from the cattle is the only discharge of intake water. Most of this waste would either evaporate or infiltrate into the soil, never reaching the stream.² For this reason, no discharge is shown for this activity.

Cattle feed lot operations which have no waste treatment facilities may also be significant contributors to agricultural pollution (59a, p. 1582). If feed lot solid wastes are not constantly treated, but are allowed to accumulate, these wastes may contribute only intermittently to high pollution loads in surface streams. Rainfall of sufficient intensity must occur to cause solid wastes to dissolve and run into the stream (59a. p. 1951). Such a phenomenon is stochastic, and is not considered in this thesis.

Production coefficients for labor, land, and water use in the cattle feed lot activity are based upon data given in James (51). Capital required per calf fed is based upon data in a study of feed lot operations in Northeast Iowa by Gross (35).

The relationship used to estimate revenue per unit of output is the same for each of the activities in the producing sector. This relationship, given previously in Chapter V, is

> c_j = Product Value/unit of X_j - Materials Cost/unit of X_j = wages and Salaries/unit of X_j + Other Income/unit of X_j.³

²J. R. Miner, Agricultural Engineering Department, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Data on the nature of cattle feed lot runoff. Private communication. July 1, 1969.

³Included in Other Income are returns to all non-labor factors of production, such as land, capital and entrepreneurial ability. The value of c_j differs from total product value only by the cost of primary inputs; with this single restriction, c_j may be treated as revenue.

For each activity, estimated materials cost per unit of output is deducted from estimated product value per unit of output. For X₁, Cattle Feed Lot, product value was estimated according to 1967 average prices for good and choice heifer calves to be \$23.98 per hundredweight (28, Table 155, p. 107), or \$221.82 for a 925 pound animal. The same calf, purchased at 1967 average prices, cost \$28.00 per hundredweight (28, Table 160 - 160L, p. 113), or \$112.00 for a 400 pound calf. Feeding costs are estimated by James (51, Table 2.12, p. 55) to be \$73.57 for a 525 pound gain. Net revenue is as follows:

Product Value		\$221.82
less Materials cost:		
calf	\$112.00	
feed	73.57	
		185.57
net revenue (C ₁)		\$ 36.25

 X_2 , X_{261} , X_{50} , X_{74} - Corn Production I, the production of corn on Tama silty clay loam under high fertilization.

 X_3 , X_{27} , X_{51} , X_{75} - Corn Production II, the production of corn on Clarion loam under high fertilization.

X₄, X₂₈, X₅₂, X₇₆ - Soybean Production I, growing soybeans on Tama silty clay loam under high fertilization.

X₅, X₂₉, X₅₃, X₇₇, - Soybean Production II, soybeans grown on Clarion loam under high fertilization.

Production coefficients for all four crop activities are shown in Table 1a and Table 1b. The data from which labor, land and capital use coefficients were compiled are contained in James (51). Coefficients of water use per unit of corn output are based on data given in Shaw, <u>et al.</u> (80a). These water requirements express the amount that must be withdrawn from the stream to supplement insufficient rainfall. Negative irrigation requirements, which imply an abundance of rainfall, are considered to be zero in the model. Irrigation requirements for corn and soybeans and the method of derivation of these requirements for three levels of rainfall are shown in Table 17, Appendix A. Water requirements for soybeans are assumed to be approximately the same as requirements for corn.⁴ The data given by Shaw, <u>et al.</u> (80a) shows consumptive crop use; return flow is assumed to be zero in each crop activity.

Product value is assumed to be the same for a crop regardless of the soil type on which the crop was grown. James (51, Table 6.8 p. 169) gives the average 1967 price per bushel for corn and soybeans, as well as estimates of the variable costs per acre (materials cost) for each crop (51, Table 8.1, p. 214). Variable costs per acre were converted to variable cost per bushel by the following manipulation:

variable cost/acre - bushels/acre = variable cost/bushel. The net revenue per bushel for each crop is as follows:

Corn (per bushel) -	
Product Value	\$1.13
less Materials Cost:	-0.55
net revenue (C ₂ ,C ₃)	\$0.58
Soybeans (per bushel) -	×.
Product Value	\$2.60
less Materials Cost:	-1.07
net revenue (C_4, C_5)	\$1.53

<u>Non-agricultural activities</u> There are eleven non-agricultural production activities in each time period in application I of the general model. Of the eleven activities, two are represented as producing a specific product, while nine activities are represented as aggregate sectors. As discussed in Chapter V, one distinction between these two methods of representation is that resource requirements in specific product activities are expressed as resources used per physical unit of output, while resource requirements in sector activities are expressed as resources used per \$1000 of product value. By assumption, none of the eleven activities has any seasonal variation in resource requirements. However, each of these activities must appear in every time period in the model. Table 2 shows, for any one of the model's

⁴R. L. Shaw, Agronomy Department, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Data on crop water requirements. Private communication. June 27, 1969.

time periods, the resource requirements of each non-agricultural producing activity. These activities are defined as follows:

 X_6 , X_{30} , X_{54} , X_{78} - Pork Slaughter I, which is a pork slaughtering plant operating at a rate of 230 carcasses per hour. Plant wastes from this activity are discharged into the stream after treatment for removal of biochemical oxygen demand (BOD).⁵ It is assumed that the waste treatment facility of the pork plant provides adequate treatment of plant wastes at the rate of operation specified for Pork Slaughter I. By assumption, treated effluent from Pork Slaughter I does not decrease the stream's quality to such a level that existing treatment facilities of downstream users are inadequate. In terms of stream quality, the relationship between Pork Slaughter I and downstream activities is neutral. A competitive relationship exists only with respect to quantity consumption; therefore, only the amount of water consumed per unit of output in Pork Slaughter I is shown in Table 2.

 X_7 , X_{31} , X_{55} , X_{79} - Pork Slaughter II, which differs from Pork Slaughter I in two respects. First, the slaughtering plant is operating at a rate of 310 carcasses per hour, so that its rates of resource use differ from those of Pork Slaughter I. Second, it is assumed that, in increasing plant output, this activity exceeds the design capacity of its waste treatment facility,⁶ thereby reducing the facility's efficiency and increasing the level of BOD in plant discharge. The resulting pollution load is hypothesized to be sufficient to force the town downstream from

⁵The bacterial decomposition of organic waste in effluent water consumes dissolved oxygen. Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) expresses the amount of dissolved oxygen which will be consumed in the decomposition of a given quantity of organic waste (56, p. 548).

⁶The treatment facility's design capacity may be exceeded because the slaughter rate has increased, because the amount of waste discharged per carcass has increased, or because poor maintenance of the treatment facility has reduced its capacity.

appli-	e G
activities,	•
in agricultural	
output	
of	
unit	
per	
resource requirements	
Seasona1	cation I
Table la.	

			0 . 		
Resource	X1 Cattle feed lot	X2 Corn I	Period 1 X ₃ Corn II	X4 Soybeans I	Soybeans II
Land I (acres)	0.004 ^a	0.0 ^b	-	0.0 ^b	
Land II (acres)	1	ı	0°0	i	0.0 ^b
Labor (workers)	0.60 ^c	0.18 ^c	0.18 ^c	0.25 ^c	0.29 ^c
Water (gallons) below normal rainfall normal rainfall above normal rainfall	1,810.0 ^d	0.0 0.0	0.0 0.0	0.00 0.00	0.0 0.0
a(51, Table 5.2	3, p. 146)				
b(51, Table 1.1	l0, p. 15)				
^c (51, Table 3.)	l, p. 93)				

d(51, Table 5.4, p. 147)

e(80a, Table 11, p. 237)

		Peri	od 2		
Resource	X ₂₅ Cattle	X ₂₆ Corn	X ₂₇ Corn	X ₂₈ Soybeans	X ₂₉ Soybeans
	feed lot (per head)	I (ner 100 hu)	II (ner 100 hu)	I (ner 100 hu)	II II
		1	1.00 001 201	(na na 100	(her TOO DOT)
Land I (acres)	0.004 ^a	1.02 ^b	ī	2.9 ^b	Ì
Land II (acres)	A	ł	1.1 ^b	я.	3.4 ^b
Labor (workers)	0.28 ^c	0.20 ^C	0.23 ^c	0.66 ^c	0.78 ^c
Water (gallons) below normal rainfall normal rainfall above normal rainfall	0°0	29.0 ^e 0.0 0.0	31.6 ^e 0.0 0.0	83.7 ^e 0.0 0.0	98.1 ^e 0.0 0.0

Table la. (Continued)

			c -		
	ţ	reri	00 3		
Resource	$X_{4,9}$ Cattle	X ₅₀ Corn	X ₅₁	X52	x53
	feed lot	I	II	soybeans	Soybeans
	(per head)	(per 100 bu.)	(per 100 bu.)	(per 100 bu.)	(per 100 hu.)
					1
Land I (acres	0.004 ^a	1.02 ^b)	2.9 ^b	,
Land II (acres)	ĩ	ł	1.1 ^b	(an (3.4 ^b
Labor (workers)	0.25 ^c	0.06 ^c	0.06 ^c	0.25 ^c	0.29 ^c
Water (gallons) below normal rainfall normal rainfall above normal rainfall	0.0 ^d	161.5 ^e 90.1 50.9	175.9 ^e 98.1 55.4	465.5 ^e 259.6 146.7	545.8 ^e 304.4 172.0

Table la. (Continued

		Peri	od 4		
Resource	X ₇₃ Cattle feed lot (per head)	Corn Lorn (per 100 bu.)	X75 Corn II (per 100 bu.)	X76 Soybeans I (ner 100 hu)	Soybeans II
				(·*** **********	(
Land I (acres)	0.004 ^a	1.02 ^b	x	2.9 ^b	•
Land II (acres)	ı	ì	1.1 ^b	a:	3.4 ^b
Labor (workers)	0.12 ^c	0.11 ^c	0.12 ^c	0.50 ^c	0.58 ^c
Water (gallons) below normal rainfall normal rainfall above normal rainfall	300.0 ^d	17.6 ^e 0.0 0.0	19.1 ^e 0.0 0.0	50.6 [€] 0.0 0.0	59.3 ^e 0.0

Table la. (Continued)

in	
period	
any	
for	
output	
of	
unit	
per	I
revenue	lication
net	app
and	ies,
requirements	ural activit:
Capital	agricult
lb.	
Table	

Resource	X1,X25,X49,X73 Cattle feed lot (per head)	X2,X26,X50,X74 Corn I (per 100 bu.)	X3,X27,X51,X75 Corn II (per 100 bu.)	X4,X28,X52, X76 Soybeans I (per 100 bu.)	X5,X29,X53,X77 Soybeans II (per 100 bu.)
Capital	33.20 ^a	45.41 ^b	48.55 ^b	113.77 ^c	132.57c
(dollars) Net revenue	36.25 ^d	58.00 ^d	58,00 ^d	153.00d	153.00d
(dollars)					

^a(35, Table 9, p. 47)

b(51, Table 8.1, pp. 213-214)

c(51, Table 8.2, pp. 215-516)

dSee text for sources and derivation.

the slaughter plant to incur higher treatment costs. For the purposes of this model, it is necessary only to specify by what amount downstream treatment costs are increased, and not to specify the nature of the pollution load which causes the increase. The specific cost increase will be discussed in a later section describing the town's water treatment facilities.

As shown in Figure 2, water is withdrawn from and returned to the stream by both pork slaughter activities. Pork Slaughter II, if it enters the solution of the model, however, adds significant pollution to the stream, consuming entirely the supply of relatively unpolluted water designated in the model as stream I. At the same time, Pork Slaughter II creates a new water supply with lower quality characteristics, designated stream II. Defining two separate supplies in this way emphasizes the artificial scarcity of stream I water created by the inefficient waste treatment of Pork Slaughter II. The model generates the shadow price of any scarce resource, so that the cost of using the stream as an effluent carrier between the pork plant and the municipal water treatment facility can be determined.

Labor use and capacity coefficients for Pork Slaughter I and Pork Slaugher II are calculated from data given in Daellenbach (21). Water use coefficients are based on a survey and analysis of five meat packing operations by Thorton and Frederick (84a) and also on data gained in personal interview with production personnel at selected meat packing plants in Iowa.

New revenue is the same in both Pork Slaughter I and Pork Slaughter II. Daellenbach (21, Appendix 2, p. 131) shows identical Material Costs for 230 carcasses per hour and 310 carcasses per hour. Using the 1967 average wholesale value, carcass and by-products (28, Table 203A, p. 140), as Product Value, and including in Materials Costs the average 1967 price for 200-220 pound barrows and gilts (28, Table 203A, p. 140), net revenue is as follows:

Pork Slaughter (per carcass) Product Value \$59.62 less Materials Costs (assuming 210 pount carcass) 46.49 net revenue (C₆,C₇) \$13.13

The remaining activities in the producing sector of the model are represented by aggregate industrial and trade sectors. Table 18, Appendix A lists thirteen such aggregate sectors which encompass economic activity in agriculture, manufacturing, trade, and service industries. Each of these sectors represents a number of individual industries, each producing a similar product. The industries included in each sector are denoted by the Standard Industrial Classification industry code numbers corresponding to that sector. The sectors defined in Table 18 may be used as activities in the model wherever information concerning water use in the production of specific products is not desired.

The coefficients of resource use for each of the thirteen sectors are given in Table 2. These coefficients are based on data given in Barnard (3,4) and McMillan (66).⁷ The general method of calculation for these coefficients is described below.

Data given in the sources cited above express, for each sector, capital, water, and labor requirements per unit of gross output. Capital required per dollar of gross output (3, Table 8, p. 53) and water intake and discharge per dollar of gross output (4, Table 4, p. 14) are given directly. The labor requirements data (66, Table 29, p. 127) are given in terms of dollars of gross output per worker; the reciprocal of this ratio is the workers required per dollar of gross output.

This revised labor coefficient, the capital coefficient, and the water coefficients must be adjusted to find the amount of each resource

⁷Barnard defines fourteen sectors in his work (3,4). McMillan (66) defines only thirteen; the transportation and the communication and utilities sector are combined into one, entitled Regulated Industries. In aggregating the resource use coefficients given by Barnard for the two separate sectors, each coefficient was weighted by the proportion of that sector's output to total output in both sectors.

required per unit of value added in that sector in the area under study. In Chapter V, the coefficient in the objective function for any activity X_{i} was defined to be

 c_j = Product Value/unit of X_j - Materials Cost/unit of X_j. Therefore, that portion of gross output value in a sector which is used to purchase materials for the production of that sector's output must be calculated and deducted from gross output value.

For any one of the thirteen sectors listed in Table 18, Appendix A, the sum of that sector's purchases, per dollar of gross output, of intermediate goods from the other twelve sectors and from states outside Iowa (Table 19, Appendix A) represents that sector's materials cost per dollar of output. Gross output minus materials cost is value added, the portion of output value which is earned by labor, management, and capital factors of production. Thus, for the <u>jth</u> sector, the resource coefficients are computed as follows:

Labor/dollar value added in $X_j = \frac{1}{\frac{Output_j}{Worker_j}} \cdot \frac{1}{kj}$

where output per worker is given by MacMillan (66, Table 29, p. 127), and k_j = value added per dollar of gross output.

Capital/dollar value added in $X_j = \frac{\text{Capital}_j}{\text{Output}_j} \cdot \frac{1}{k_j}$; the capital output ratio is given in Barnard (3, Table 8, p. 53).

Water intake/dollar value added in $X_j = \frac{Water intake_j}{Output_j} \cdot \frac{1}{k_j}$; Water discharge/dollar value added in $X_j = \frac{Water \ discharge \ j}{Output_j} \cdot \frac{1}{k_j}$; Water intake and water discharge per dollar of gross output are given in Barnard (4, Table 4, p 14). Since each unit of output in a sector activity generates \$1000 value added, the coefficient in the objective function is \$1000 for any sector activity.
In application I, activities X_8 through X_{17} in period 1, and the corresponding activities in periods 2, 3, and 4 are represented by sectors, as follows:

> X_8 , X_{32} , X_{56} , X_{80} - Sector 4: Other Food and Kindred Products. X_9 , X_{33} , X_{57} , X_{81} - Sector 5: Other Non-Durables, X_{10} , X_{34} , X_{58} , X_{82} - Sector 6: Farm Machinery, X_{11} , X_{35} , X_{59} , X_{83} - Sector 7: Other Machinery, X_{12} , X_{36} , X_{60} , X_{84} - Sector 8: Other Durables, X_{13} , X_{37} , X_{61} , X_{85} - Sector 9: Regulated Industries, X_{14} , X_{38} , X_{62} , X_{86} - Sector 10: Wholesale and Retail Trade, X_{15} , X_{39} , X_{63} , X_{87} - Sector 11: Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate, X_{16} , X_{40} , X_{64} , X_{88} - Sector 12: Other Services, X_{17} , X_{41} , X_{65} , X_{89} - Sector 13: Construction and Mining.

Each of these activities is assumed to be located in the town shown in Figure 2. Each activity uses municipally treated water and discharges waste water to be treated by the municipal waste water treatment facility. Resource requirements per unit of each of these activities are shown in Table 2.

<u>The water supply sector (X^S) .</u>

There are four activities in the water supply sector. Two of these activities, Water Treatment and Water Treatment II, represent treatment of stream water to meet commercial and residential requirements in the assumed municipality. Waste water treatment represents treatment of municipal waste water, while the fourth activity is Reservoir Storage, carried out in the reservoir shown in Figure 2. Resource requirements for each of these activities are shown in Table 3. The activities are defined as follows:

 X_{12} , X_{42} , X_{66} , X_{90} - Water Treatment I, the activity which treats water withdrawn from stream I, water containing effluent from Pork Slaughter I. It is assumed that Pork Slaughter I discharges waste in quantities too small to affect the level of treatment costs at the municipal water treatment plant. The output of Water Treatment I is distributed among the various

Table 2. R	lesource requi Ion-agricultur	rements al prod	and net rev uction activ	venue per uni vities, appli	t of output cation I ^a	for any time	period in
	X ₆₁ , X X ₅₄ , X	30, 78,	X7, X ₃₁ , X55, X79	Activity X8, X32, X56, X80	X9, X33, X57, X81	X ₁₀ , X ₃ 4, X ₅₈ , X ₈₂	X11, X35, X59, X83
	Pork Slaugh I	ter	Pork Slaughter II	Other Food and Kindred, (exc. meat	Other Non- Durables	Farm Machinery	Other Machinery
	(1000	hogs)	(1000 hogs)	products) (\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)
Labor (workers)	1.	380	.1241	.1319	,1346	.1448	.1598
Landb		ı	ł	1	Į	ı	ı
Water (gallons) stream I treated w waste wat	8 ater er	700	239,000 -232,000	119136.0 -5170.0	96970.3 -90109.3	59281.7 -59281.7	12135.2 -11216.4
Capital (dollars)				1572.2	1364.4	946.2	870.6
Net revenue (dollars)	13,	130	13,130	1000	1000	1000	1000
aFo	r sources and	deriva	tion of data	a, see text.		Ω.	

 $^{\mathrm{b}\mathrm{The}}$ quality of land used is invariate with the volume of production. Therefore no coefficient need be included in the model.

\sim
÷ i
č,
H
H
-
-
4
-
0
0
-
N
904.
(1)
-
0
10

			Activity			
	X12, X36, X60, X84	X ₁₃ , X ₃₇ , X ₆₁ , X ₈₅	X ₁₄ , X ₃₈ , X ₆₂ , X ₈₆	X ₁₅ , X ₃₉ , X ₆₃ , X ₈₇	X ₁₆ , X ₄₀ , X ₆₄ , X ₈₈	X ₁₇ , X ₄₁ , X ₆₅ , X ₈₉
	Other	Regulated	Wholesale	Finances,	Other	Construction
	Durables	Indistries	and Retail Trad e	Insurances and real	Services	and Mining
	(\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)	estate (\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)	(\$1000 VA)
abor workers)	.1343	.0819	.2100	.0510	.2021	.1412
and	t	ı	ì	ì	1	
ater gallons) stream I stream II						
treated water waste water	80,268.2 -70,668.7	522,978.4 -108,312.7	8,276.8 -7,357.2	2,608.2 -2,412.6	31,667.3 -10,050.5	1,261,768.9 -883,582.8
apital dollars)	1,024.3	3,266.9	857.0	1,706.9	1,273.5	506.0
et revenue dollars)	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000

commercial and residential water using activities in the town.

X₁₉, X₄₃, X₆₇, X₉₁ - Water Treatment II, which treats water withdrawn from stream II, containing effluent water from Pork Slaughter II. The main difference between Water Treatment II and Water Treatment I is the level of treatment cost per unit of water. Water Treatment II shows a higher cost, reflecting the increased pollution load caused by the Pork Slaughter II activity.

The amount by which treatment costs are increased by the effluent of Pork Slaughter II is based upon \$175 per million gallons average cost for treatment including filtration, given in Seidel and Cleasby (79, p. 1522). It is assumed that Water Treatment II is ten per cent more costly than Water Treatment I, and that Water Treatment I costs equal the average cost shown above. Water Treatment II, therefore, is \$17.50 per million gallons more expensive than Water Treatment I.

In most water treatment facilities, some proportion of total output is "unaccounted-for" water, not distributed to customers (79, p. 1509). According to the Seidel and Cleasby survey, the most frequently reported proportion was in the range of ten per cent to fifteen per cent. For this study, the mid-point of this range, a twelve and one-half per cent loss before distribution, will be assumed. Therefore, for each 1,000 gallons treated, 1138.6 gallons must be withdrawn from the stream in both Water Treatment I and Water Treatment II.

 X_{20} , X_{44} , X_{68} , X_{92} - Waste Water Treatment. This activity represents the treatment of sewage from residential and commercial activities in the town. The sewage effluent from the town is considered to be of the same quality regardless of the water's quality prior to initial treatment. Therefore, one activity is constructed to represent waste treatment under any configuration of activities and stream quality levels.

The capacity of each of the three water supply activities listed above represents the average capacity of that type of facility for all towns in Iowa of 2500 to 10,000 population in 1960. These capacities, expressed in gallons, were estimated based on data in the 1962 Inventory

of Municipal Waste Facilities (97a) and the 1962 Inventory of Municipal Water Facilities (97b). A ratio estimate, treatment capacity per capita, was calculated and used to estimate treatment facility capacity in the hypothetical town of 10,000. The coefficient representing capacity used per gallon of water or waste water treated is unity, since capacity in each activity is expressed in gallons.

Labor and land are not included as variable resource requirements. Interview data for selected Iowa water treatment and sewage plants showed that over a broad range of output, a fixed amount of labor is required due to process automation. In the short run, therefore, labor requirements for each treatment operation are assumed to be invariate with output. Land requirements are considered also to be invariate for the water treatment and waste treatment activities.

X₂₁ - Reservoir, a storage facility, which is also used for recreation. Reservoir capacity is discussed in a later section on the model's parameters. Stored water can be released during low-flow periods for flow augmentation, either to meet withdrawal requirements or to be used for pollution abatement. Recreation use and flow augmentation of reservoir water are competing uses to some degree, since a relatively stable water level is desirable for recreation, while flow augmentation implies a fluctuating water level.

Because storage is a transfer activity, it must appear in every time period. Therefore, X_{45} , X_{69} , and X_{93} are reservoir storage activities in periods 2, 3, and 4, respectively.

The residential sector (X^r)

The residential sector contains four activities representing some of the uses of water which do not normally produce market valued output. The four activities are defined as follows:

 x_{22} , x_{46} , x_{70} , x_{94} - Residential Use, based on an average use of 79,000 gallons per residence per year (59, p. 1512). This activity does not represent water used by commercial activities in the assumed municipality.

Resource	x_{18} , x_{42} , x_{66} , x_{90} Water Treatment I	X ₁ 9, X ₄ 3, X ₆₇ , X ₉₁ Water Treatment II	X ₂₀ , X ₄₄ , X ₆₈ , X ₉₂ Waste Water Treatment
Land (acres) ^a	0	0	0
Labor (workers) ^a	0	0	0
Water intake (gallons)	1,138.6 ^b (Stream I)	1,138.6 ^b (Stream II)	1,000.0
Capacity (gallons)	1,000.0	1,000.0	1,000
Net revenue (dollard)	0	175 ^c	0

Resource requirements and net revenue per 1000 gallons of water or waste water treated

Table 3.

^aThe quantities of land and labor used are invariate with the volume of water treated. Therefore, no coefficient is required.

bBased on 12.5 per cent loss between intake and distribution (79, p. 1509).

^cSee accompanying discussion for source and derivation.

 X_{23} , X_{47} , X_{71} , X_{95} - Recreation Use of Reservoir, which represents reservation of some proportion, in this model an assumed 90 per cent, of reservoir storage for recreational uses such as swimming, boating, or fishing.

 X_{24} , X_{48} , X_{72} , X_{96} - Low Flow Protection, which is a feature of Iowa's permit system (48, sect. 455A.1). Reservation of a minimum amount of flow for nonregulated uses grants these uses maximum protection of right as long as there is water in the stream. Knowledge of the opportunity cost of reserving a quantity of water for low flow protection requires that it be explicitly recognized as an activity.

Constraint parameters

In the general model shown in Chapter V, the set of constraint parameters was defined to contain four vectors, b, \overline{x}^P , \overline{x}^s , and \overline{x}^r . The elements of the b vector represents available amounts of labor, water, and reservoir storage capacity in each time period, as well as the amount of land available annually to agricultural activities in the model. In Table 4, where the parameter values used in application I are shown, the elements of the b vector corresponding to labor, water, and reservoir storage parameters are designated b_{it} , t = 1, ..., 4, denoting that the parameter value varies among the four time periods.

Elements in \overline{X}^P and \overline{X}^S , denoted by \overline{X}_i , i = 6, ..., 22, are shown only as annual amounts. These parameters specify the amount of available annual capacity in producing and water-supply activities. Elements of \overline{X}^T , which represent the minimum amounts of water reserved for residential, low flow, and recreation uses, are denoted by \overline{X}_i , i = 23, 24, 25.

The individual constraint parameters for application I were calculated as follows:

Water - all water in the model is initially in stream I $(b_{1t}, t = 1, ..., 4)$. The available runoff was based on below normal, average, and above normal rainfalls (80, p. 6), assuming that the relationship between

	Resource		Available amount			
		Annua 1	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3	Period 4
p1	stream l (gallons) above normal rainfall normal rainfall below normal rainfall		1,453,525,336 952,789,336 315,046,400	1,161,429,336 760,840,534 254,540,800	462,485,334 303,918,934 100,530.934	406,848,000 367,059,200 88,324,266
b2	stream II (gallons) above normal rainfall normal rainfall below normal rainfall		1,453,525,336 952,789,336 315,046,400	1,161,429,336 760,840,534 254,540,800	462,485,334 303,918,934 100,530.934	406,848,000 267,0 5 9,200 88,324,266
b3	labor (workers)	1,427				
þ4	reservoir (gallons)		252,896,964	252,896,964	252,896,964	252,896,964
\mathbf{b}_{5}	land I (acres	500				
9q	land II (acres)	500				
\overline{x}_1	feed lot capital (\$)	32,200				
$\overline{\mathbf{X}}_2$	corn capital (\$)	44,330				
х ₃	soybean capital (\$)	39,620				
\overline{X}_{4}	pork slaughter I capacity (carcasses)	478,400				

Table 4. Resource parameters, application I.

1
pen
iin
ont
9
4.
le
Lab

0.0		Available amount			
	Annua 1	Period I	Period 2	Period 3	Period 4
c slaughter II Icity (carcasses)	166,900				
-durable goods tal (\$)	1,005,422				
lble goods .tal (\$)	866,810				
lated industries tal (\$)	3,743,972				
esale and retail e capital (\$)	3,904,438				
ance, insurance a I estate capital	nd 4,705,960				
er services ital (\$)	4,991,927				
struction and ing capital (\$)	928,240				
er treatment pacity (gallons) ₄₄	8,950.000				
	<pre>c slaughter II ccity (carcasses) durable goods tal (\$) ble goods tal (\$) lated industries tal (\$) esale and retail e capital (\$) ance, insurance a l estate capital er services ital (\$) struction and ing capital (\$) struction and ing capital (\$) er treatment pacity (gallons)₄₄</pre>	<pre>c slaughter II city (carcasses) 166,900 durable goods tal (\$) 1,005,422 ble goods 866,810 lated industries 866,810 lated industries 3,743,972 tal (\$) 3,904,438 tal (\$) 3,904,438 esale and retail e capital (\$) 3,904,438 ance, insurance and l estate capital 4,705,960 er services and l estate capital 4,705,960 struction and ing capital (\$) 928,240 er treatment pacity (gallons)4,48,950.000</pre>	<pre>city (carcasses) 166,900 durable goods tal (\$) 1,005,422 ble goods 1,005,422 ble goods 866,810 lated industries tal (\$) 3,743,972 esale and retail e capital (\$) 3,904,438 ance, insurance and l estate capital 4,705,960 er services ital (\$) 928,240 er services if (\$) 928,240 er treatment pacity (gallons),48,950.000</pre>	<pre>slaughter II city (carcasses) 166,900 durable goods tal (\$) 1,005,422 ble goods 866,810 tal (\$) 3,743,972 tal (\$) 3,743,972 esale and retail e capital (\$) 3,904,438 esale and retail e capital (\$) 3,904,438 ance, insurance and l estate capital 4,705,960 fial (\$) 4,991,927 struction and ing capital (\$) 928,240 er treatment pacity (gallons/448,950.000</pre>	<pre>slaughter II city (carcasses) 166,900 durable goods 1,005,422 ble goods 866,810 ble goods 866,810 lated industries 3,743,972 tal (\$) 3,904,438 esale and retail e capital (\$) 3,904,438 ance, insurance and l estate capital 4,705,960 er services tinsurance and l estate capital 4,705,960 er services tinsurance and ing capital (\$) 928,240 er treatment pacity (gallons)248,950.000</pre>

1
Ъ
e
3
2
-
17
-
0
53
~
\mathbb{Z}
3
Ξ
Ξ
3
4. ((
4. ((
e4. ((
le 4. ((
ole 4. ((
ible 4. ((
able 4. ((
Table 4. ((

	Resource		Available amount			
		Annual	Period 1	Period 2	Period 3	Period 4
\overline{x}_{14}	waste water treatment capacity (gallons) 381	,279,000				
- X ₁₅	residential use (gallons) 266,	,862,000				
x_16	protected low flow (gallons)		6,300,754	12,563,779	3,150,377	2,527,847
<u>x</u> ₁₇	recreation in reservoir (gallons)		12,650,000	12,650,000	12,650,000	12,650,000
<u>x</u> 18	<pre>treated water (gallons)</pre>		0			
<u>x</u> 19	waste water (gallons)		0			

annual rainfall and annual runoff can be expressed as

log (annual runoff) = -3.1 + 2.6 [log (annual rainfall)]⁸ It is further assumed that runoff is distributed unevenly throughout the year, with 41.7 per cent appearing in period 2; 33.3 per cent in period 2; 13.3 per cent in period 3; and 11.7 per cent in period 4, based on information given by Bennion (6, p. 11). If a 20 square mile drainage area is assumed, the amount of available water with below normal, normal, and above normal rainfall is that shown in Table 2, Appendix A.

According to Shaw (80, p. 6), each of the three ranges of rainfall discussed above is equally probable. Of the three events, below normal rainfall is the event which would create situations most conducive to water scarcity. It is conditions arising in water scarcity which this model is designed to treat. Therefore, streamflow levels and crop water requirements in this application are those which result when rainfall on the drainage area of the stream is below normal.

Stream II (b_{2t} , t = 1,..., 4) is a transfer row showing movement of water from a higher to a lower quality supply as wastes from the Pork Slaughter II activity are discharged into Stream I. The value of b_{2t} in any period depends upon the amount of water initially available in that period in Stream I and upon the amount consumed by those activities which withdraw water from Stream I. These activities are as follows:

Cattle Feed Lot -	х ₁ ,	X ₂₅ ,	x ₄₉ ,	x ₇₃
Corn I	x ₂ ,	× ₂₆ ,	x ₅₀ ,	х ₇₄
Corn II	x ₃ ,	× ₂₇ ,	x ₅₁ ,	x ₇₅
Soybeans I	Х ₄ ,	x ₂₈ ,	x ₅₂ ,	x ₇₆
Soybeans II	x ₅ ,	x ₂₉ ,	x ₅₃ ,	x ₇₇
Pork Slaughter I	x ₆ ,	x ₃₀ ,	x ₅₄ ,	X ₇₈

⁸Merwin Dougal, Civil Engineering Department, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Data on rainfall - runoff relationship. Private communication. July 3, 1969.

Pork Slaughter II	x ₇ , x ₃₁ , x ₅₅ , x ₇₉
Water Treatment I	x ₁₈ , x ₄₂ , x ₆₆ , x ₉₀
Reservoir	x ₂₁ , x ₄₅ , x ₆₉ , x ₉₃
Low Flow Protection	x ₂₉ , x ₄₈ , x ₇₂ , x ₉₆

Thus, for time period 1, b_{23} is given by the expression $b_{21} = b_{11} - \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} X_1 + a_{12} X_2 + A_{13} X_3 + a_{14} X_4 + a_{15} X_5 + a_{16} X_6 + (a_{17} - a_{27}) X_7 + a_{1,21} X_{21} + a_{1,24} X_{24} \end{bmatrix}$. Applying this relation to the b_{21} row yields $a_{11} X_1 + a_{12} X_2 + a_{13} X_3 + a_{14} X_4 + a_{15} X_5 + a_{16} X_6 + (a_{17} - 2a_{27}) X_7 + a_{1,18} X_{18} + a_{1,21} X_{21} + a_{1,24} X_{24} = b_{11}$, which becomes the row of the A matrix representing use of the Stream II resource. For each of the other time periods in the model, the form of the corresponding Stream II row is the same as that shown above.

Land (b₅, b₆) - for each soil type in the model, Tama silty clay loam and Clarion loam, 500 acres are hypothesized to be available and irrigable annually.⁹ Land which is not irrigable due to unfavorable slope or erosion characteristics is not considered in the model.

Labor (b_3) - the annual labor resource, expressed in man-years, is 1,427 persons, calculated using the Iowa average employment in 1960 in urban places of 2,500 to 10,000 population, which is computed from data in the U. S. Census of population, 1960 (96, Table 70, p. 17-199). Labor is assumed to have no seasonal fluctuations, and is therefore expressed as an annual total.

Reservoir Capacity $(b_{4t}, t = 1, ..., 4)$ - according to Schwab (77, p. 28), a survey of ten reservoirs in Iowa showed that those which contained sufficient storage to last through the 1934 drought had an average watershed area (acres): reservoir capacity (acre-feet) ratio of

⁹⁵⁰⁰ acres for crop production is not intended to reflect any actual configuration of land use. The quantity available here is hypothetical and may be varied at will by future users of this model.

3.3. This ratio is used to determine the storage requirements for a watershed area of 20 square miles, or 12,800 acres.

Each activity in X^P , the producing sector, and X^S , the water supply sector, is constrained by its available short-run production capacity. This annual capacity limit can be expressed either as a physical or monetary amount. The capacity constraint parameters, denoted as $\overline{X_i}$, used in application I were computed as follows:

Feedlot Capacity (\overline{X}_1) - this activity is assumed to have available enough capital to produce 1000 fed steers, each animal requiring \$33.20 in capital, including land, buildings, and equipment (35, Table 35, p. 75).

Corn Production Capacity (\overline{X}_2) - it is assumed that this activity has sufficient capital to utilize all available land of both soil types in the model. On Tama loam, \$44.52 per acre is required (51, Table 8.1, p. 213-214); on Clarion loam, \$44.14 per acre is required (51, Table 8.1, pp. 213-214).

Soybean Production Capacity (\overline{X}_3) - soybean activities are also assumed to have sufficient capital to utilize all available land in the model. For soybean production, \$39.23 per acre is required on Tama loam, and \$38.99 per acre is required on Clarion loam (51, Table 8.2, pp. 215-216).

Pork Slaughter I and Pork Slaughter II $(\overline{X}_4, \overline{X}_5)$ - each packing activity is limited to an annual capacity equal to production at the activity's assumed rate for 260 work days (52 weeks, 5 days per week). Pork Slaughter I operates at 230 carcasses per hour, or 1840 carcasses per work day. Its annual limit is therefore 476,400 carcasses. Pork Slaughter II operates at 310 carcasses per hour, or 2480 carcasses per work day. Its limit is therefore 644,800 carcasses per year.

Other Producing Activities (\overline{X}_6 through \overline{X}_{11}) - Capacities in activities X_8 through X_{17} are based on a capital-labor ratio computed as shown in Table 19, Appendix A, from Barnard (3). The capital stock in each major industry group is shown in Table 21, Appendix A. In computing available capital stock, some groups of activities are aggregated because 1960 employment data in sectors corresponding to those defined in this model do not exist for urban places of 2,500 to 10,000 population (96, Table 70, p. 16-199). The capital stock in a sector activity or a major industry group of sector activities is calculated by the equation

Capital Stock_i = $(\sum_{j=1}^{n} e_j \frac{Capital_j}{Worker_j})$ Workers_i (1960). The terms denoted by subscript ; refer to sectors as defined in this study; the terms denoted by subscript i refer to major industry groups for which employment data are published specific to urban places of 2,500 to 10,000 population. The sum enclosed in parentheses represents a weighted average of capital per worker ratios in those sectors which must be aggregated to correspond with published employment data. The weights, e, are of the form $e_j = \frac{\text{Employment}_j}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \text{Employment}_j}$, where n is the number of sectors included

in the major industry groups. Worker $_{\rm i}$ (1960), the employment in the model in the ith major industry group, was calculated by allocating total labor force to the several industry groups in proportion to that industry group's share of 1960 total employment in urban places, 2,500 to 10,000 population.

Water Treatment Capacity (\overline{X}_{12}) - the sum of the outputs of both treatment activities is constrained to be no greater than the capacity of the plant. The assumed capacity is based on the average production in treatment plants serving populations of 5,000-10,000, as estimated by Seidel and Cleasby (52, Table 2, p. 1509). The average, 123 gallons per capita per day, is equivalent to 1.23 million gallons per day for a city of 10,000, or 448.95 million gallons per year.

Waste Water Treatment Capacity (\overline{X}_{1L}) - a ratio of gallons of treatment capacity per capita was calculated for 48 places in Iowa of 2,500 to 10,000 population, based on data given in the 1962 Inventory of Waste Facilities (97b). Estimated waste treatment capacity is 104.46 gallons per capita per day. Applying this average to a town of 10,000 population yields an estimate of 381,279,000 gallons annual capacity.

Residential Use (\overline{X}_{15}) - This constraint represents the amount of water which is reserved in the model for human consumption. In order to avoid reserving water for use by commercial or industrial users in the hypothetical town, average residential use, rather than per capita total water use, is the basis of estimated requirements. The average given by Seidel and Cleasby (79, Table 5, p. 1512), for treatment facilities with a daily output of 1.0 to 2.0 million gallons, is 79,000 gallons per year per residence.

The number of residences in the hypothetical town was estimated by using the 1960 average population per household, 2.96, in urban places 2,500 to 10,000 population (96, Table 71, p. 200). It is assumed that there is only one household per residence, so that there are an estimated 3.378 residences in the town, requiring 266,862,000 gallons per year.

Protected Low Flow (\overline{X}_{16}) - according to Hines (43, p. 44), the protected low flow in Iowa streams is generally set at that level of flow expected to be exceeded 84 per cent of the time between April and September. In applying the above standard to individual streams, protected flow may be increased or decreased according to public interest (43, p. 44). However, since the 84 per cent standard is the basis of the protected flow standard, the amount reserved for protected flow in this model is similarly calculated, in the following manner.

Work by Beer has shown that the distribution of annual rainfall approximates a log normal distribution.¹⁰ The parameters of this distribution, the mean and variance, are estimated from annual rainfall data for a period of 96 years (104). The sample mean is $\overline{X} = 1.493$, and the sample variance is $s^2 = 0.0043$. Given the relationship

log (annual runoff) = -3.1 + 2.6 log (annual rainfall), the distribution of log (annual runoff) can be specified as normal, with an estimated mean of

 $\overline{y} = -3.1 + 2.6 \ (\overline{X}) = 0.7418$

¹⁰Craig Beer, Agricultural Engineering Department, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Data on the statistical distribution of rainfall. Private communication. July 10, 1969.

and an estimated variance of $s_y^2 = 2.6^2 (s_x^2) = 2.9068$. Based on the estimates above, the annual runoff which can be expected to be exceeded 84 per cent of the time (y^*) is approximated by (assuming the expected value of the error of the estimate to be zero)

 $y^* = \overline{y} - z_{.84}$ s_y (71, p. 90), where $-z_{.84}$ is the point on the normal distribution such that $P[z \ge -z_{.84}]$ = .84 (71, p. 517). The tabulated z-value is z = -1.00 (71, Appendix 5, p. 517). Using this z-value, y^{*} is given by

 $y^* = 0.7418$ -1.00 (1.7049) = -0.9631 or .09185 inches of annual runoff.

Over the 20 square mile drainage basin assumed this runoff is equal to an annual flow of 37,729,066 gallons, of which 16.7 per cent (6, p. 11), or 6,300,754 gallons, occurs in period I, during the month of April. During period 2, 33.3 per cent (6, p. 11), or 12,563,779 gallons, occurs. During period 3, 13.3 per cent (6, p. 11), or 3,150,377 gallons, occurs, and during the month of September in period 4, 6.7 per cent (6, p. 11) appears, or 2,527.847 gallons.

Recreation in Reservoir (\overline{X}_{17}) - the amount of water reserved in the reservoir for recreation use is assumed to be 90 per cent of reservoir capacity.

Four additional constraints are imposed on the model. The amounts of treated water and waste water in the model are constrained to be zero, indicating no storage of treated water or sewage. In addition, Pork Slaughter II is constrained to be at a level greater than or equal to 478,400 carcasses annually, since Pork Slaughter I and Pork Slaughter II are assumed to be mutually exclusive up to the maximum available from Pork Slaughter I. The fourth constraint insures that the sum of output in Pork Slaughter I and Pork Slaughter II must be no greater than 648,400 carcasses, the maximum amount of production possible. Application II: an Existing Water Use Situation

Application II represents the analysis of water use from a shallow sand and gravel aquifer by industrial, commercial, and residential uses in a town whose 1960 population was 4,350. The water supply and the activities which withdraw from it are not atypical of Iowa. Application II illustrates the problems encountered in applying the model developed in this study to real situations. In estimating technical coefficients and parameters for use in the model, accuracy increases as the sample size on which the estimate is based increases. Inasmuch as the resources available in governmental agencies for the collection of large amounts of primary data may be limited, an effort was made in this analysis to utilize secondary sources instead of primary sampling in estimating as many coefficients and parameters as possible.

The activities are located along a river with estimated average flow of 210 cubic feet per second. No activity considered in the model withdraws water from this stream; the only use of the stream at this point is for effluent carriage. There are no significant uses of the stream for at least 10 miles downstream¹¹ so that this river is not considered as a water supply in the model.

In this application, there are no activities whose water requirements fluctuate seasonally. Also, the water supply under study would not be expected to show significant seasonal variation in quantity.¹² Therefore, only a single, annual time period is considered.

Activities

A number of activities in application II are identical to activities in application I. Where this is the case, reference is made to that activity's definition in the discussion of application I above; where the activity is unique to application II, it is defined in paragraphs below.

¹¹Richard G. Bullard, State Water Commissioner, Des Moines, Iowa. Data on water use in Iowa. Private communication. June 30, 1969.

¹²Dr. Lyle V. Sendlein, Department of Earth Sciences, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Data from a study in progress of surficial aquifer in a southwestern Iowa river bottom. Private communication. July 7, 1969.

Resource and objective function coefficients for these activities appear in Table 5.

The producing sector (X^P) There are no crop agricultural activities in application II. A soil survey of the area under consideration (97) shows very little land of a slope and soil type which would permit irrigation from the aquifer water supply under study. Therefore, only nonagricultural producing activities are considered. These activities are defined as follows:

X₁ - Pork Slaughter, which has coefficients of resource use identical with Pork Slaughter II in application I. In pumping its water from an aquifer and discharging it into a stream, this activity moves the water which it does not consume into a different water supply. For this reason, only the gross water intake coefficient is shown.

Activities X_2 through X_{10} are represented by sectors, which are defined as shown in Table 4, Appendix A.

x ₂	-	sector	4:	Other Food and Kindred Products,
Х3	÷	sector	5:	Other Non-durables,
x4	-	sector	6:	Farm Machinery,
x ₅	-	sector	7:	Other Machinery,
x ₆	-	sector	8:	Other Durables,
X7	-	sector	9:	Regulated Industries,
X8	-	sector	10:	Wholesale and Retail Trade,
х ₉	-	sector	11:	Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate,
x10) -	sector	: 12:	Other Services,
x ₁₁	-	sector	: 13:	Construction and Mining.

With the exception of X_1 , all these activities are located in the town, and are dependent upon municipal facilities for water supply and waste water treatment.

The water-supply sector (X^S) There are only two activities in the water supply sector, a water treatment activity and a waste water treatment activity. Data on which the resource coefficients of these two activities were calculated were gathered in personal interview with the

			Activities		
	X ₁ Pork	X2 Other Food	X ₃ Other Non-	X ₄ Farm	X5 Other
	Slaughter (1,000 hogs)	and Kindred (\$1,000 VA)	durables (\$1,000 VA)	Machinery (\$1,000 VA)	Machinery (\$1,000 VA)
Labor (workers)	.1241	.1319	.1346	.1448	.1598
Water (gallons) from aquifer treated water waste water	239,000	119,136.0	96,970.3 -90,109.0	59,281.7 -59,281.7	12,135.2 -11,216.4
Capital (dollars)		1,572.2	1,364.4	946.2	870.6
Net revenue (dollars)	13,130	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000

Table 5. Resource requirements and net revenue per unit of output for activities, application II

				Activities		
	X6 Other Durables (\$1,000 VA)	X7 Regulated Industries (\$1,000 VA)	X8 Wholesale and Retail Trade (\$1,000 VA)	Finances, Insurances, & Real Estate (\$1.000 VÅ)	X10 Other Services (\$1.000 VA)	X ₁₁ Construction and Mining (\$1,000 VA)
Labor (workers)	.1343	.0819	.2100	.0510	.2021	.1412
Water (gallons) from aquifer treated water waste water	r 80,268.2 -70,668.7	522,978.4 -108,312.7	8,276.8 -7,357.2	2,608.2 -2,412.6	31,667.3 -10,050.5	1,261,768.9 -883,582.8
Capital (dollars)	1,024.3	3,266.9	857.0	1,706.9	1,273.5	506.0
Net revenue (dollars)	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000

Table 5. (Continued)

plant supervisory personnel.

 X_{12} - Water Treatment, withdraws water from the same aquifer system on which the Pork Slaughter activity depends. This water is then distributed to activities within the town.

X₁₃ - Waste Water Treatment, which treats waste effluent from municipal users, discharging treated water into the stream on which the town is located. Since the stream is not considered as a source in this study, the discharge from the waste treatment activity is not shown.

<u>The residential sector (X^r) </u> The residential sector contains only a residential use activity. There is no protected low flow activity in this model. The Iowa Water Commissioner had not found any low flow protection necessary, since there are no withdrawals being made from the stream in the reach under study.¹³ The residential use activity is defined as follows:

 x_{14} - Residential Use, which requires an estimated 79,000 gallons per residence per year (79; Table 5, p. 1512).

Constraint Parameters

The general set of constraint parameters consists of four vectors, b, \overline{X}^{P} , \overline{X}^{S} , and \overline{X}^{r} . In application II, the b vector contains two elements, which express the annual amount of water available from the aquifer and the annual labor supply. \overline{X}^{P} and \overline{X}^{S} express the annual capacity of each of the producing activities and water supply activities, respectively. \overline{X}^{r} expresses the amount of water reserved in the aquifer for residential use. The individual constraint parameters, listed in Table 6, are defined as follows:

¹³Richard G. Bullard, State Water Commissioner, Des Moines, Iowa. Data on water use in Iowa. Private communication. July 3, 1969.

Water (b_1) - the maximum safe yield¹⁴ in the municipal well field was estimated at the time the wells were installed to be two million gallons per day, or an annual amount of 730 million gallons per year. This estimated capacity, however, does not include the water available from the aquifer at points other than the municipal well field.

An estimate of the total flow in the aquifer was made¹⁵ based on the following relation:

$$Q = K \cdot I \cdot A$$
 (56, p. 81),

where Q is total flow in the aquifer in gallons per day; K is a constant describing the permeability of the aquifer, or its ability to transmit water, in gallons per square foot per day; I is the gradient in the aquifer, in feet per horizontal foot. A represents the cross-sectional area of the water-bearing material, in square feet. Permeability (K) was assumed to be 4000 gallons per day per square foot, based on tests made in similar aquifer systems. Gradient (I) is estimated to be 13.5 feet per 1000 feet. The aquifer under study lies in a river valley, and the largest component of flow in the aquifer is from the valley wall to the stream bed. This gradient constant represents the gradient of flow in that direction, perpendicular to the direction of stream flow. A, the cross-sectional area of the water-bearing material, is estimated to be 158,000 square feet, since the bed of sand and gravel is approximately one mile wide and thirty feet deep. The quantity of water flowing in the system described above, according to the formula $Q = K \cdot I \cdot A$, is approximately 8.5 million gallons per day.

¹⁴Maximum safe yield is that rate at which water can be withdrawn from an aquifer without exceeding the rate at which the aquifer is recharged. To exceed the recharge rate in withdrawal is to incur an overdraft, which may damage the medium of the aquifer, permanently impairing the storage or transmission characteristic of the aquifer (56, pp. 101-102).

¹⁵Dr. Lyle V. A. Sendlein, Department of Earth Sciences, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. Data from a study in progress of surficial aquifers in a southwestern Iowa river basin. Private communication. June 30, 1969.

				-
		Resource	Parameter Value	
	b1	aquifer (gallons)	2,372,500,000	
	^b 2	labor (workers)	2,014	
į	\overline{x}_1	pork slaughter capacity (carcasses)	644,800	
3	x ₂	manufacturing capital (dollars)	2,669,952	
3	x ₃	regulated industries capital (dollars)	3,896,166	
5	\overline{x}_4	wholesale and retail trade capital (dollars)	2,348,734	
3	x ₅	finance, real estate and insurance capital (dollars)	3,991,953	
5	x ₆	other services capital (dollars)	2,182,688	
5	x ₇	construction and mining capital (dollars)	616,640	
j	x ₈	water treatment capacity (gallons)	365,000,000	
2	- X9	waste water treatment capacity (gallons)	182,500,000	
5	x ₁₀	residential use (gallons)	133,431,000	

Table 6. Resource parameters, application II^a

^aRefer to text for sources and derivation.

A second estimate of capacity was made, based on base flow¹⁶ in the stream flowing through the valley in which the aquifer is located. After an extended period of little or no rainfall, the flow in the river, which comes largely from ground water sources, represents a portion of the water flowing in the aquifer. Analysis of stream flow records in the basin and particular hydrologic conditions near the point of study in the stream yielded a preliminary estimate of base flow of 10 cubic feet per second, or approximately 6.5 million gallons per day. Thus, all withdrawals from the aquifer may total as much as 6.5 million gallons per day without causing flow in the stream to disappear.

Inasmuch as the disappearance of stream flow may have serious effects on downstream uses, the limiting capacity of the aquifer will be assumed to be 6.5 million gallons per day, or 2372.5 million gallons per year.

Labor (b₂) - Defining the labor force available to the activities in this model is a difficult task, since there are few indicators of how many people located outside the municipal boundary travel to town to work. In this study, it is assumed that the available labor force is 2014 workers. Labor force was estimated by calculating the proportion of 1960 county employment which was located in the town, for seven major industry groups as shown in Table 22, Appendix B. These proportions were then applied to estimates of 1967 county employment, by the same seven industry groups. These employment estimates were made by Dr. Marvin Julius, of the Department of Economics, Iowa State University. The resulting employment estimates are shown in Table 26, Appendix B. The total of employment in these industry groups is the assumed labor force.

Pork Slaughter Capacity (\overline{X}_1) - this parameter is the number of carcasses which could be processed annually at a rate of 310 carcasses per hour, which is 644,800 carcasses.

 $^{^{16}}$ Base flow is that flow in a stream which originates not as surface runoff, but as inflow from an aquifer (56, p. 39).

Capacity in other producing activities $(\overline{X}_2 \text{ through } \overline{X}_{10})$ - the amount of available capital stock for each of these activities is calculated by the same method used to calculate this parameter for these same activities in application I above. The relationship used is

Capital Stock_i = $\begin{pmatrix} n \\ \sum_{j=1}^{n} e_j \frac{capital_j}{worker_j} \end{pmatrix}$ workers_i (1967), where

the term enclosed in parentheses represents a weighted average of capital per worker ratios in those sectors defined in this study (Table 19, Appendix A) which must be aggregated in order to compare with employment data for the major industry groups shown in Table 1, Appendix B. The term, workers_i (1967), is the estimated employment in the <u>i</u>th major industry group, as shown in Table 22, Appendix B. The calculated capital stocks are shown in Table 23, Appendix B.

Water Treatment Capacity (X_{11}) - the capacity of the municipal treatment plant is one million gallons per day, or 365 million gallons per year.

Waste Water Treatment (X_{12}) - the capacity of the waste treatment facility is 500,000 gallons per day, or 182.5 million gallons per year.

Residential Use (\overline{X}_{13}) - the amount of water reserved for residential use is based on an estimated population of 5000 and an average annual requirement of 79,000 gallons per residence (79, Table 5, p. 1512). Assuming 2.96 persons per household (96, Table 71, p. 200) and one household per residence, there are approximately 1689 residences requiring 79,000 gallons each per year, or 133,431,000 gallons per year.

Based on the data described in this chapter, the two model applications were solved. The results of these solutions, as well as a summary of the study, are contained in the following chapter.

CHAPTER SEVEN: RESULTS OF MODEL SOLUTIONS

Solution of the model, in either application I or application II, yields a vector of optimum activity levels which is unique to the particular set of constraints and parameters in the problem. In general, a change in either the constraints or parameters of the problem will cause the solution vector to be changed. Therefore, by solving each application repeatedly under various sets of constraints or parameters, certain comparisons can be made which will be valuable in reaching a conclusion with respect to the hypothesis developed in Chapter IV.

The initial solution of each application was reached using the data and relationships described in Chapter VI. This solution is the basis for subsequent comparisons within the framework of each application. The initial solution determines optimum activity levels, optimum water use and allocations, and the optimum value of marginal product of water. The value of the objective function in this solution represents the value added in production when a scarce water resource is optimally allocated.

The second solution of each application approximates the actual pattern of water use by forcing the level of each producing activity to be equal to the estimated actual output of that activity in the year which the particular data used represent. This solution determines a new value of the objective function for each application, which is less than or equal to the value determined in the initial solution. These two values define a range over which the permit system could, if properly operated, improve the value added in production which utilizes the particular water sources under study. This range of values of the objective function indicates the potential gain to the hydrologic area from optimum allocation under the permit system. Each of the solutions listed above is described in this chapter; a final, summary section, which incorporates suggestions for further study, concludes the analysis.

Results of Application I

Tables 7a, 7b, and 7c show the results of the initial solution of application I. This solution is based on the data described in Chapter VI. Table 7a shows water to be a constraining resource in this situation, but not throughout the year. The supply of water in Stream I is exhausted only in Periods 3 and 4, which are low rainfall periods.¹ This shortage serves to provide in this initial optimum solution, a baseline against which the comparisons previously discussed can be made.

Before any comparisons are undertaken, several points of interest should be noted in the initial solution. First, the scarce water resource is Stream I, which carries the relatively unpolluted effluent of the Pork Slaughter I activity. The relative abundance of Stream II, which carries the more polluted effluent of Pork Slaughter II, indicates that the scarcity arises from the degradation of water in Stream I. The shadow price of this water, \$0.15 per thousand gallons, represents the value of marginal product of Stream I water. This value can be interpreted in several ways within the restrictions of the model. The \$0.15 is the dollar benefit which would be realized from every additional thousand gallons of Pork Slaughter II effluent returned to the original quality of the stream, whether by the pork processor or by the town. \$0.15 is also the opportunity cost associated with the loss of one thousand gallons of less polluted water. This cost, as well as the municipal treatment cost and the cost of adequate treatment at the source of pollution, are data which can be used in analysis of this production diseconomy. Such an analysis is beyond the scope of this thesis and is not attempted here.²

¹See Figure 3, Chapter VI for a depiction of rainfall by periods.

²For discussion of an analytical technique which would apply to this particular external effect, see Turvey (94a).

Table 7a. Initial solution of application I, seasonal resource use

Constant Constant and Constant and	and the second		
Resource	Resource used	Unused Resource	Shadow Price
	(gallons)	(gallons)	(dollars)
Period 1:			
Stream I	267,339,726	47,706,674	0
Stream II	229,913,857	85,132,543	0
Reservoir Capacity	12,650,000	0	0.00015
Period 2:			
Stream I	90,240,024	164,300,775	0
Stream II	77,764,735	177,676,065	0
Reservoir Capacity	12,650,000	0	0.00015
Period 3:			
Stream I	100,404,934	0	0.00015
Stream II	95,823,946	4,670,988	0
Reservoir Capacity	12,650,000	0	0.00015
Period 4:			
Stream I	88,324,266	0	0.00015
Stream II	76,656,645	11,667,620	0
Reservior Capacity	12,650,000	0	0.00015

Objective function value: \$17,480,639.99

Resource	Resource used	Unused Resource	Shadow Price (dollars)
Labor (workers)	1,427	0	4,687,46
Land T (acres)	0	500	0
Land II (acres)	Ő	500	0
Cattle Feed Lot Capital (de	ollars) 0	33,200	0
Corn Capital (dollars)	0	44,330	Ő
Sovbean Capital (dollars)	õ	39,260	Õ
Pork Slaughter T Capacity	476 800	0	12 48
(carcasses)	470,000	0	1
Pork Slaughter II Capacity (carcasses)	168,000	0	12.55
Non-durable Goods Capital (dollars)	1,005,422	0	0.16373
Durable Goods	866,810	0	0.26142
Capital (dollars)	an an tao 🕶 canana ao		
Regulated Industries Capital (dollars)	0	3,743,972	0
Wholesale and Retail Trade Capital (dollars)	669,641	3,234,797	0
Finance, Real Estate and Insurance Capital (dollars)	4,705,960	0	0.44
Other Services Capital (dollars)	4,491,927	0	0.01
Construction and Mining Capital (dollars)	0	928,240	0
Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	448,950,000	0	0.001
Waste Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	381,279,000	0	0.001
Additional Water Treatment Capacity required (gallon	99,550,400		
Additional Waste Water Treatment Capacity required (gallons)	23,147,800		

Table 7b. Initial solution of application I, nonseasonal resource use

Seasonal Activities:	Activity Level	Reduced Revenue
nexted 1		
Period 1:	0	5 823 07
Dark Slouchtor I (asression)	237 752	0,023.07
Pork Slaughter IT (carcasses)	80,659	0
Nator Troatmont I (callens)	215 496 000	0
Water Treatment I (gallons)	2 128 075	0 175
Water Treatment II (gallons)	107 736 000	0.175
Stampage (apliance)	107,750,000	0 00015
Beamaghting (collocal)	12 625 000	0.00015
Recreation (gallons)	12,025,000	0.00015
Kesidential Use (gallons)	69,959,052	0.00015
Low Flow (gallons)	629,989,000	0
Period 2:		
Corn I (bushels)	0	879.49
Corn II (bushels)	0	1,020.16
Soybeans I (bushels)	0	2,940.72
Soybeans II (bushels)	0	3,502.22
Pork Slaughter I (carcasses)	76,584	0
Pork Slaughter II (carcasses)	26,886	0
Water Treatment I (gallons)	71,122,650	0
Water Treatment II (gallons)	709,350	0.175
Waste Water Treatment (gallons)	35,912,000	0
Storage (gallons)	100,000	0
Recreation (gallons)	12,625,000	0.00015
Residential Use (gallons)	30,313,089	0.00015
Low Flow (gallons)	1,259,979	0
Period 3:		1.1.1
Corn I (bushels)	0	223.25
Corn II (bushels)	0	223.25
Soybeans I (bushels)	0	1,018.87
Soybeans II (bushels)	0	1,206.38
Pork Slaughter I (carcasses)	85,840	0
Pork Slaughter II (carcasses)	33,608	0
Water Treatment I (gallons)	80,196,530	0
Water Treatment II (gallons)	9,593,470	0
Waste Water Treatment (gallons)	86,657,000	0
Storage (gallons)	0	0.00015
Recreation (gallons)	12,525,000	0.00015
Residential Use (gallons)	89,790,000	0.00015
Low Flow (gallons)	504,044	0

Table 7c. Initial solution of application I, optimum activity levels

Table 7c. (Continued)

Seasonal Activities:		
	Activity Level	Reduced Revenue
Period 4.		
Corn I (bushels)	0	364.00
Corn II (bushels)	0	504.66
Sovbeans I (bushels)	0	2,191.38
Soybeans II (bushels)	0	2,566.48
Pork Slaughter I (carcasses)	76,584	0
Pork Slaughter II (carcasses)	26,886	0
Water Treatment I (gallons)	71,122,650	0
Water Treatment II (gallons)	709,350	0
Waste Water Treatment (gallons)	42,145,810	0
Recreation (gallons)	12,625,000	0.00015
Residential Use (gallons)	56,829,164	0.00015
Low Flow (gallons)	251,890	0
Non-seasonal Activities:		
Other Food & Kindred	\$ 639,500	0
Other Non-durable Goods	0	\$ 41.41
Farm Machinery	0	\$ 44.66
Other Machinery	\$ 995,646	0
Other Durable Goods	0	\$ 48.24
Regulated Industries	0	\$ 15.19
Wholesale and Retail Trade	\$ 781,400	0
Finance, Insurance, and	\$2,757,000	4.82
Real Estate		
Other Services	\$3,919,848	0
Construction and Mining	0	\$1,807.22

The second point of interest is that the initial solution shows that two of the reserved water uses, residential use and recreation, show a "reduced revenue"³ value of \$0.15 per thousand gallons reserved. This is consistent with the fact that water reserved for these uses is withdrawn from Stream I, and is equivalent, therefore, to a reduction in Stream I flow. The low flow protection activity, however, does not "cost" anything in terms of the objective function value, since low flow can be reserved from Stream II, which is abundant. In situations of water scarcity, the reduction of reserved use levels would achieve the same increase in the objective function value as an increase in water supply, and should be considered explicitly as an alternative to the development of a new supply.

It is also of interest to note the presence to the Storage activity in period 2, representing the transfer of Stream I water from period 2 into period 3 for subsequent use. Optimal allocation of a scarce water resource may require, in just the fashion represented in the model, that water be stored in times of adequate flow to be used in later time periods. The need for such storage would arise from differences in the time pattern of water requirements and the pattern of seasonal water availability. It can also be seen that the discharge of this stored water in period 3 has decreased the amount of water available for recreation in period 3, during which the stored water is This drawdown of the reservoir level illustrates the conflict used. between recreation and intertemporal water transfer discussed in Chapter VI, and points to the possibility of some point of intersection between the demand for water in its recreational role and the demand for water in its role as an input to production. If a positive value in the objective function could be established for recreation, comparable to the

³"Reduced revenue", shown in Table 7c, denotes the amount by which the value of the objective function would be decreased if a nonbasis activity were included in the basis at unit level. Conversely, it shows the increase in the objective function due to reduction of any activity which is forced into the solution at a minimum level.

positive values of each producing activity, the model would indicate this optimum point of intersection, at which water would be of equal value in each role.

A modification was required in the model in both application I and application II. It was necessary to introduce real disposal activities⁴ into each matrix which correspond to the constraints on water treatment capacity and waste water treatment capacity. In both applications, these capacities are not sufficient to process the entire water supply, which must be done if water is to be exhausted. The effect of a disposal activity associated with either treatment capacity constraint is to indicate, by the optimum level of the disposal activity, how much additional capacity is required to treat all available water, either initially or as waste water. The additional capacity required for treatment in the initial solution of application I is shown in Table 7b.

The second solution of application I is made subject to a set of bounds, one for each producing activity in the model. These bounds approximate the outputs which might have resulted in each of the producing activities in 1960, the year the data represent, had this hypothetical situation existed. Each agricultural activity and both Pork Slaughter processes are bound at their maximum levels determined by the smallest value which land or capital would allow in each case. The remainder of the producing activities, the aggregate sectors, were bound at the level which would result if the remaining labor in the model were distributed as it was distributed among the same sectors in Iowa in 1960. (66, Table 33, p. 131 shows this distribution). Table 8 shows the distribution of labor and the pertinent output bound fixed for each producing activity. Seasonal activities are not restricted seasonally, but only in total so that the model is free to allocate production among time periods.

⁴A disposal activity is represented by a vector X_j in which all elements except one are zero. The single non-zero element, which has a value of minus one, is in the row representing the resource to which the disposal activity corresponds.

Activity	Labor used (workers)	Output with maximum labor use ^a	Maximum output is ^b
Cattle Feed Lot	5	1000 hd. ^c	1000 hd.
Corn I	0.6	24,310 bu. ^c	24,310 bu.
Corn II	0.5	22,730 bu.c	22,730 bu.
Soybeans I	0.7	8,550 bu. ^c	8,550 bu.
Soybeans II	0.5	7,530 bu. ^c	7,530 bu.
Pork Slaughter I	65.8	476,000 carcasses ^c	476,800 carcasses
Pork Slaughter II	20.8	168,000 carcasses ^c	168,000 carcasses
Other Food and Kindred	57.2	\$ 433,666 \$	350,126 ^c
products			
Other Non-durable Goods	70.6	\$ 524,517 \$	333,446 [°]
Farm Machinery	42.0	\$ 290,055 \$	144,926 ^c
Other Machinery	65.6	\$ 410,513 \$	242,639 ^c
Other Durable Goods	84.9	\$ 632,167 \$	505,971 ^c
Regulated Industries	127.0	\$1,550,672 \$1	,146,032 ^c
Wholesale and Retail Trade	391.5	\$1,864,286 ^c \$4	,555,937
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate	73.2	\$1,435,294 ^c \$2	,757,021
Other Services	311.1	\$1,539,337 ^c \$3	.919.848
Construction and Mining	109.3	\$ 774,079 ^c \$1	,834,466

Table 8. Distribution of labor force among producing activities; output bounds used in application I

 $^{\mathbf{a}} \mathrm{This}$ is the output which would be achieved if all allocated labor were used.

 $^{\rm b}{\rm This}$ is the maximum output which either capacity or capital will allow.

^CThese values were chosen as output bounds.

·

In setting output bounds, it was necessary to compare the production which would result in any activity from total use of allocated labor with the maximum production possible given that activity's capital stock. In order to avoid infeasibility⁵, the lower of these two maxima was chosen as the output bound in the second solution, as indicated in Table 8.

The activity level and levels of resource use in the second solution are shown in Table 9a, 9b, and 9c. Comparison of the first two solutions shows immediately that the initial solution makes far more efficient use of the resources in the model. The value of the objective function of the initial solution is \$3,073,291.06 higher than the value of the objective function in the second solution. This difference in the value of output in the two situations under consideration shows, within the limitations of the model, how much greater benefit would be received in the model area if scarce resources were reallocated optimally among the alternative producers of the model.

Table 9a also shows that water from Stream I is the constraining resource in this solution and that this scarcity occurs only in periods 3 and 4. This table further shows the shadow price of water to be \$0.15 per thousand gallons, which is equal to the shadow price of water in the previous solution. Thus, in this situation and over the range of these two solutions, the shadow price of water does not vary, even though the allocation of the resource and the value of output resulting from its use may vary widely.

These two solutions have shown, with certain restrictions to be discussed in a later section, the magnitude of the increase in total value of production which might be realized if scarce resources were optimally allocated. The upper end of a range is therefore constructed over which the permit system might increase the value of production which utilizes this stream as a source of water input.

⁵An infeasible solution is one in which one or more of the constraints in the linear program cannot be met.

Table 9a. Second solution of application I; seasonal resource use

Resource	Resource used (gallons)	Unused Resource (gallons)	Shadow Price (dollars)
man for the tax			41100
Period I:		15 006 671	<u>,</u>
Stream I	269,149,726	45,896,674	0
Stream II	231,723,857	83,322,543	0
Reservoir Capacity	12,650,000	0	.00015
Period 2:			
Stream I	90,268,624	164,272,176	0
Stream II	77, 793, 334	176,747,465	0
Reservoir Capacity	12,650,000	0	.00015
Period 3.			
Stream I	100 494 934	0	00015
Stream II	95 823 946	4 670 988	.00015
Pasaruair Capacity	12,650,000	4,070,900	00015
Reservoir Capacity	12,050,000	0	.00015
Period 4:			
Stream I	88, 324, 266	0	.00015
Stream IT	76 656 646	11 667 620	0
Reservoir Canacity	12 650 000	11,007,020	00015
Reservoir Gapacity	12,050,000	0	.00015

Objective function value: \$14,407,348.93
Resource	Resource Used	Unused Resource	Shadow Price (dollars)
Labor (workers)	1,290	137	0
Land I (acres	500	0	a
Land II (acres)	500	0	a
Cattle Feed Lot Capital (do	11ars) 33.200	0	a
Corn Capital (dollars)	22.075	22 255	0
Soybean Capital (dollars)	19,471	20,149	0
Pork Slaughter I Capacity (carcasses)	476,800	0	a
Pork Slaughter II Capacity (carcasses)	168,000	0	a
Non-durable Goods Capital (dollars)	1,005,422	0	a
Durable Goods Capital (dolla	ars) 866,637	173	0
Regulated Industries Capital (dollars)	3,743,972	0	a
Wholesale and Retail Trade Capital (dollars)	1,597,693	2,306,745	0
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate Capital (dolla	2,449,903 ars)	2,256,057	0
Other Services Capital (dollars)	1,960,346	3,031,581	0
Construction and Mining Capital (dollars)	391,684	536,556	0
Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	448,950,000	0	.00083
Waste Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	381,279,000	0	.001
Additional Water Treatment Capacity required (gallons	116,042,666)		
Additional Waste Water Treatment Capacity require (gallons)	161,298,000 d		

Table 9b. Second solution of application I, nonseasonal resource use

^aNo shadow price is given in the solution for these resources because they were not entirely consumed; in each case the unconsumed portion was less than 0.001 units. This difference disappears in rounding, but is sufficient to cause a zero shadow price.

Activities	Activity Level	
Cattle Feed Lot (head)	1,000	
Corn I (bushels)	24,310	
Corn II (bushels)	22,730	
Soybeans I (bushels)	8,550	
Soybeans II (bushels)	7,350	
Pork Slaughter I (carcasses)	476,800	
Pork Slaughter II (carcasses)	168,000	
Water Treatment I (gallons)	438,637,177	
Water Treatment II (gallons)	10,302,822	
Waste Water Treatment (gallons)	381,279,000	
Storage (gallons)	100,000	
Recreation (gallons)	50,500,000	
Residential Use (gallons)	266,891,866	
Low Flow (gallons)	2,645,902	e.
Other Food & Kindred	350,126	
Products (dollars)	,	
Other Non-durable	333,446	
Goods (dollars)	Control - relations	
Farm Machinery (dollars)	144,926	
Other Machinery (dollars)	242,639	
Other Durable Goods (dollars)	505,971	
Regulated Industries (dollars)	1,146,032	
Wholesale and Retail Trade (dollars)	1,864,286	
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate (dollars)	1,435,294	
Other Services (dollars)	1,539,337	
Construction and Mining (dollars) 774,079	

Table 9c. Second solution of application I, optimum activity levels^a

^aSeasonal activities are not shown because the large number of constraints to which the model was subject caused the water supply activities in any period to be inconsistent with the levels of water using activities in that period.

Results of Application II

The results of the initial solution of application II are shown in Tables 10a and 10b. The data which this solution represents are those discussed in Chapter VI. In this situation, the water supply is not exhausted; the constraining resource is the capacity of the waste water treatment activity. Since a portion of the water supply remains unused, its shadow price is zero. Optimum allocation in this case is that allocation which allows each water user to use water up to the point where the value of marginal product of water in that use becomes zero. In Chapter III, it was shown that this is the amount of water which each user will require if the water is free, as it is in this case. Allocation in this situation is not critical, except for the possibility of waste, wherein a water user's production function becomes horizontal at its maximum water used in this type of process will never have a negative vmp, which would discourage further use of the resource, and there is no loss to the producer if he continues to withdraw.

In order to find the point where water supplies, which flow at a relatively constant rate in application II, become scarce the requirements for water must be increased. This is done by increasing the value of all constraint parameters except those in the water supply sector (water supply itself, water treatment capacity, and waste water treatment capacity). In this case, the appropriate parameter values were doubled. In addition, as discussed in the section dealing with application I, two real disposal activities were included in the matrix. One is associated with water treatment capacity, the other with waste water treatment capacity. The effect of these two activities in the optimum solution is to indicate by how much the capacities of these treatment facilities must be increased to accommodate the higher water requirements. Such information would be of use in planning the need for capital expenditures in water supply facilities.

Activity	Optimum Level	Reduced Revenue (dollars)
Pork Slaughter (carcasses)	644,800	0
Other Food and Kindred Products (dollars)	0	666.54
Other Non-durable Goods (dollars) 0	1,236.84
Farm Machinery (dollars)	0	521.62
Other Machinery (dollars)	3,066,753	0
Other Durable Goods (dollars)	0	707.19
Regulated Industries (dollars)	15,926	0
Wholesale & Retail Trade (dollars)	2,845,722	0
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate (dollars)	2,338,714	0
Other Services (dollars)	1,713,830	0
Construction and Mining (dollars)) 0	7,157.70
Water Treatment (gallons)	263,484,232 gal.	0
Waste Water Treatment (gallons)	180,000,000 gal.	0
Residential Use (gallons)	33.431.000 gal.	0

Table 10a. Initial optimum solution of application II (original constraints) Objective function value: \$18,997,170.20

Resource	Level of Resource Use	Unused Resource	Shadow Price
Labor (workers)	1,635	379	0
Aquifer (gallons)	417,591,432	1,954,908,568	0
Pork Slaughter Capacity (carcasses)	644,800	0	13.13
Manufacturing Capital (dollars)	2,669,952	0	1.03
Regulated Industries Capital (dollars)	52,030	3,844,086	0
Wholesale & Retail Trade capital (dollars)	2,438,733	0	1.09
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate Capital (dolla	3,991,953 rs)	0	0.57
Other Services Capital (dollars)	2,182,688	0	0.71
Construction and Mining Capital (dollars)	0	616,640	0
Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	263,484,232	101,515,768	0
Waste Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	180,000,000	0	0.009

Table 10b. Initial optimum solution of application II (original constraints)

Parameter Value Resource 2,372,500,000 Aquifer (gallons) b1 4,028 Labor (workers) b2 1,289,600 \overline{X}_1 Pork Slaughter (carcasses) Capacity \overline{x}_2 5,339,904 Manufacturing (dollars) Capital 7,792,232 X3 Regulated Industries (dollars) Capital \overline{X}_4 4,877,466 Wholesale & Retail (dollars) Trade Capital X5 7,983,906 Finance, Insurance, (dollars) and Real Estate Capital \overline{x}_6 4,365,376 Other Services (dollars) Capita1 1,233,280 X₇ Construction and (dollars)

365,000,000

180,000,000

266,862,000

Mining Capital

Capacity

Xg

Xq

X10

Water Treatment (gallons)

Residential Use (gallons)

Waste Water (gallons) Treatment Capacity

Table 11. Revised resource parameters, application II

A time horizon can be roughly estimated over which the aquifer under study will be sufficient to meet the needs of activities represented in application II. According to projections by Maki (57, Table 4, p. 8), population in the middle Missouri River basin area of Iowa, where this aquifer is located, is expected to double by the year 2020. Given a constant rate of participation in the labor force, constant production coefficients, and constant ratios of capital stock among the activities in the model, it will be at least fifty years before the supply of water in this aquifer becomes critical.

The increased values of the constraints are shown in Table 11 and the solution of the model using these constraints is shown in table 12a and 12b. A water shortage now exists; consequently, the water resource has a positive shadow price. This solution establishes a base against which comparisons can be made, assessing the possible operation of the permit system in this situation.

Note that in neither optimum solution is labor a scarce resource. This indicates that, given the existing capital - labor ratios and capital stocks in each activity, there is excess labor relative to capital as an input. Regardless of the availability of other resources, such as land or water, labor will always be in excess in this model. The inconsistency between the estimates of capital stock and labor can likely be traced to inconsistencies among the several sources from which the estimates were drawn. In any actual application of the model, it would be necessary to resolve these differences in data wherever possible, so that the productive potential of any activity will not be underestimated.

It would seem intuitively correct that if all resources except water were doubled in value, the activity levels and the value of the objective function would also double. This is not the case, however, in application II. The value of the objective function more than doubled, from approximately \$19 million to approximately \$41 million. Also, the mix of activities changed significantly, with several activities

111-112

Table 12a. Initial optimum activity levels, application II, using revised constraint parameters

Reduced Revenue Optimum Level Activity (dollars) 0 1,289,600 Pork Slaughter (carcasses) 882.59 Other Food and Kindred (dollars) 0 Products 628.75 Other Non-durable (dollars) 0 Goods 123.22 0 Farm Machinery (dollars) 6,133,506 0 Other Machinery 228.64 0 Other Durable (dollars) Goods 0 Regulated Industries (dollars) 2,385,223 5,691,445 0 Wholesale and Retail (dollars) Trade Finance, Insurance (dollars) 4,677,428 0 and Real Estate Other Services (dollars) 3,427,661 0 1,833,977 0 Construction and Mining (dollars) 365,000,000 -0.00079 Water Treatment (gallons) Waste Water Treatment (gallons) 180,000,000 -0.00079 Residential Use (gallons) 266,862,000 0.00079 Additional Water Treatment 1,699,285,600 Capacity Required (gallons) Additional Waste Water Treatment 2,055,370,640 Capacity Required (gallons)

Objective function value: \$41,081,687.60

Resource	Level of Resource Use	Used Resource	Shadow Price (dollars)
Labor (workers)	3,721	307	0
Aquifer (gallons)	2,372,500,000	0	0.00079
Pork Slaughter Capacity (Carcasses)	1,289,600	0	12.94
Manufacturing Capital (dollars)	5,339,904	0	1.13
Regulated Industries Capital (dollars)	7,792,232	0	0.18
Wholesale & Retail Trade (dollars)	4,877,466	0	1.16
Finance, Insurance, & Real Estate Capital (dollars)	7,983,906	0	0.58
Other Services Capital (dollar	rs) 4,365,376	0	0.76
Construction and Mining Capits (dollars)	928,055	305,225	0
Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	365,000,000	0	0.00079
Waste Water Treatment Capacity (gallons)	180,000,000	0	0.00079

Table 12b. Initial optimum levels of resource use, application II, using revised constraint parameters

increasing by large amounts given the increased resource parameters. These disporportionate increases are due in part to the existence of a completely new set of resource constraints and in part to the introduction of the disposal activities described above, which eliminated the constraining effect of waste water treatment capacity.

Having obtained the baseline optimal solution of application II, another solution was generated in which each production activity was forced to equal a particular value. This value approximates, within the limitations of the data, the actual relative rates of production in each activity in 1960, the year represented by the data in the model. These rates are projected into 2020 A.D., in accordance with the population projection discussed earlier. It is necessary to project the rates in order to insure that water used will have a positive shadow price. The fixed bounds on output were calculated by allowing each producing activity, with one exception, to use labor at the same rate as in 1960, as indicated in Table 18, Appendix A. The single exception is the pork slaughter activity, which was forced to operate at maximum capacity, since this is the rate of output indicated by personal interview with packing plant officials. In the case of the Manufacturing sector indicated in Table 16, Appendix A, it was necessary to apportion the labor force among the sectors, Other Food & Kindred Products, Other Non-durable Goods, Farm Machinery, and Other Durable Goods. Table 13 shows the labor force distribution and the values of the output bounds for application II. The 702 workers in the manufacturing sector were distributed among the activities on the basis of that activity's share of total employment in manufacturing in Iowa in 1960 (66, Table 33, p. 131).

In order to avoid infeasibility in the second solution, it was necessary to compare the bounds calculated above with the maximum production which the given capital stock would allow in any activity. In those activities where the use of all allocated labor was not possible because of the capital constraint, the lower output was used as an output

Activity	Labor used (workers)	Output with Maximum labor use ^a	Maximum output ^b
Pork slaughter	160	1,289,600 ^C carcasses	644,800 carcasses
Other Food & Kindred Products	124	\$ 943,000	\$ 603,800 ^C
Other Non-durable Goods	s 154	\$1,150,000	\$ 866,400 ^c
Farm Machinery	92	\$ 638,200 ^c	\$ 744,600
Other Machinery	142	\$ 893,600 ^c	\$1,252,800
Regulated Industries	256	\$3,076,800	\$2,385,800 ^C
Wholesale and Retail Trade	1,238	\$5,876,000	\$5,798,000 ^c
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate	246	\$4,784,200	\$4,679,800 ^C
Other Services	1,066	\$5,264,600	\$3,430,000 ^c
Construction	376	\$2,634,600	\$2,437,200 ^c
Other Durable Goods	186	\$1,379,000 ^c	\$1,380,200

Table 13. Distribution of labor force among producing activities; output bounds used in application II

^aThis output would result if all the labor allocated to any activity were used.

^bThis is the maximum output which the given capital stock will allow. ^cThese output limits were used as output bounds in the second solution. bound. This allows the linear program to proceed to a feasible optimal solution, in which all output bounds are satisfied.

Having specified the value of each producing activity, only the water supply vectors are allowed to change. However, the shadow price of water and the objective function value in this situation are the items of primary interest. The optimum solution given using these constraints is shown in Tables 14a and 14b.

A serious modification of the model was required in the second solution of application II. The total water use by all activities bound at the given levels is more than the total annual supply of water available from the aquifer source. Such a situation could easily arise in reality, since the aquifer parameter represents the maximum safe yield of the aquifer; an overdraft may be incurred, but damage to the aquifer would likely result. To account for this additional water requirement, a disposal activity was included which corresponds to the aquifer resource and which shows how much water would have to be withdrawn beyond the maximum safe yield. By first solving the model with the disposal activity unbounded, and then solving again with the activity bounded at the level given by the previous solution, a positive shadow price can be found which represents the vmp of a unit of water supplied either by incurring a further overdraft or by developing a new supply. A direct comparison can still be made between solutions, but it must be remembered that the solutions differ not only with respect to the value of the objective function and the vmp of water, but also with respect to the quantity of water used.

Comparison of the two solutions shows that although more water is used in the second solution than the first, the value of the objective function is smaller. This indicates clearly that the greatest return to the scarce water supply is not being realized in the projected allocation. It can be seen that optimal allocation will increase the total value added in the area by more than \$1 million, and that the rate of water use can also be made significantly lower, avoiding an overdraft of the aquifer.

Activity	Optimum Level	Reduced Revenue ^a
Pork Slaughter (carcasses)	1,289,600	-13,130.00
Other Food and Kindred Products (dollars)	603,800	- 1,000.00
Other Non-durable Goods (dollars) 866,400	- 1,000.00
Farm Machinery (dollars)	638,200	- 1,000.00
Other Machinery (dollars)	893,600	- 1,000.00
Other Durable Goods (dollars)	1,379,000	- 1,000.00
Regulated Industries (dollars)	2,385,800	- 1,000.00
Wholesale and Retail Trade (dollars)	5,798,000	- 1,000.00
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate (dollars)	4,679,800	- 1,000.00
Other Sources (dollars)	3,430,000	- 1,000.00
Construction and Mining (dollars) 2,437,200	- 1,000.00
Residential Uses (gallons)	266,862,000	0.00079

Table 14a. Optimum activity levels second solution of application II

^aNegative Reduced Revenue values indicate that the objective function value would increase if any activity with a negative coefficient were increased.

Resource	Resource Used F	Unused Resource	Shadow Price (dollars)
Labor (workers)	3,442	586	0
Aquifer (gallons)	2,372,500,000	0	0.00079
Pork Slaughter Capacity (carcasses)	1,289,600	0	12.94
Manufacturing Capital (dollars)	4,922,735	417,169	0

7,792,232

0

0.18

Regulated Industries

Table 14b. Optimum levels of resource use, second solution of application II Objective function value: \$39,919,070.00

Capital (dollars) Wholesale and Retail 4,877,466 1.16 Trade Capital (dollars) Finance, Insurance & Real 7,982,906 0.58 Estate Capital (dollars) Other Services Capital 4,365,176 0.76 (dollars) Construction and Mining 1,233,671 99,609 0 Capital (dollars) Water Treatment Capacity 365,000,000 0.00079 (gallons) Waste Water Treatment 180,000,000 0.00079 Capacity (gallons) Additional Water required 241,022,003 (aquifer overdraft -gallons)

The shadow price of water in this application remains constant between the two solutions, reinforcing the earlier conclusion that the shadow price of water is apparently stable over some range of possible allocations.

The point was made in Chapter III that it is not possible to specify how the permit system will react to a water shortage. However, it can be concluded from the analysis presented in this chapter that the existence of an optimizing mechanism within the permit system would allow that system to achieve significant increases in the returns to water in a given area.

Limitations of the Model

Each application of the model developed in this study possesess certain characteristics and flaws which limit the applicability of the conclusion drawn above. Explicit mention of these limitations of the analysis is necessary in order to place the study in its proper perspective. In application I, a hypothetical situation was created so that water allocation among diverse alternative uses could be examined. The hypothetical situation required that average data be used in calculating the production coefficients for each activity, and in drawing the parameters of the model. This average data, such as that determined by using sector aggregates as activities, may not be representative of the production function of any single component of the average, such as a single firm in one of the sectors of the model. Furthermore, the reliability of many of the estimates cannot be determined empirically, since these estimates are not based upon any statistical sampling technique.

The linear nature of the production functions used in this study for each producing activity is the source of two difficulties. The first difficulty became evident above in selecting those activities which would become part of the final solution in each application. This

solution is intended to approximate the permit system allocation, in that each water user in the solution is given water up to the point of maximum use. However, the point of maximum use was defined in Chapter III as the point where total physical product becomes a maximum with respect to continued water inputs. Such a maximum point does not exist in a linear production function. Output continues to increase as water use increases until another resource becomes constraining; in both applications, the constraining resource is capital stock.

The second difficulty is related closely to the first, described above. The linear production functions used in this study allow for any producing activity, no substitution between inputs, which may not be representative of the true production function. Thus, any optimum position determined using a set of linear functions may be different from the true optimum position.

One way in which both the problems described above can be accommodated is to consider more than one alternative production process for each activity. As the number of alternative processes, which can be thought of as planar approximations of the production function service. considered increases, the accuracy with which the production function is represented also increases. Such an increase in accuracy would also lend reliability to the optimum solution of the model.

Another flaw in both applications is the representation of labor as a completely homogeneous, mobile resource. This over simplification relaxes in the model constraints of immobility or of shortage of critical skills which may be important in an actual situation. Any constraints present in an actual situation and absent in the model of that situation will cause the value of the objective function to be overstated. Thus, in the short run, the maximum value of product possible if all scarce resources are optimally allocated may be impossible to achieve.

Use of the same aggregate sectors was required in application II, for although this application described an existing situation, no secondary data were available which specifically described the producing activities in the town under consideration. This application is therefore subject to the same limitations described above for application I. In addition, the problem of defining the size of the labor force on which a small, rural community can draw is a study in itself, inasmuch as it is difficult to define the geographical limits within which an available labor force may reside. For this reason, the labor resource represented in the model may constrain the producing activities at an artificially high or low level.

It is because of these limitations that these two applications serve best to demonstrate the methodology which the model represents. Values determined in application, such as the value of marginal product of water, may not be valid in other situations, and should be applied in other situations only with caution.

Summary and Conclusions

This study was undertaken with three objectives, each of which has been met with some success. The first objective, to determine by analysis of Iowa's water permit system how the system would allocate water in times of scarcity, was accomplished in Chapter III. It was shown in that chapter that the permit system acknowledges only two consistently identified points on a water user's production function, the point of zero output and zero water use and the point of maximum total physical product, where the marginal physical product of water becomes zero. The second objective was the construction of a model which would show optimum water use in particular situations. This model is discussed in Chapters V and VI. The accomplishment of these first two objectives enabled partial accomplishment of the third.

The third objective was to compare optimal water allocation and permit system allocation in a particular situation. Such a comparison was described earlier in this chapter. However, as was noted in the discussion of this comparison, it is not possible to predict what allocation will result from operation of the permit system; it is

possible only to estimate limits between which permit system allocations might range, given certain assumptions concerning waste and total water use.

Related to all three of these objectives is the hypothesis developed in Chapter IV. The hypothesis states that Iowa's permit system will optimally allocate scarce water resources. It is possible to say, as illustrated by the results described previously in this chapter, that although the permit system might allocate water optimally, it is also likely that it will not. The hypothesis is therefore rejected on the grounds that no systematic bias toward finding optimum allocations can be presumed in the permit system. Note that the strict alternative hypothesis, that Iowa's permit system will not optimally allocate a scarce water resource, cannot be accepted without modification. An acceptable alternative hypothesis is that the permit system will not always allocate scarce water resources optimally.

Having reached the objectives of the study, certain conclusions can be drawn which are of perhaps greater import than the rejection of the hypothesis. The permit system in Iowa cannot be relied on to optimally allocate scarce water resource without modification; this thesis proposes a model which can be the instrument of such a modification. No vast change in the present permit system is required. It is necessary, however, that two further objectives be accomplished. First, data must be generated which will allow this model to be more accurate in describing small area water use problems. Second, a system must be devised whereby solutions of the model can be obtained simply by transferring from the data bank to the model the activity vectors appropriate to the situation under study. This system, if accurate, specific data were on call, would provide timely information in the form of priority lists among relevant activities, to those responsible for permit allocation decisions. The conclusion to which these suggestions point is that it would be possible to decrease the economic uncertainty of permit allocation by minimizing the element of randomness resulting from lack of information.

Using the model would also assist the State of Iowa in finding that allocation which will provide the greatest feasible return to the state's water resources.

The form taken by the required data referred to above is critical. The discussion of the model in Chapter V pointed out that a trade-off exists between greater detail in information and greater awkwardness of computation as the model and its data requirements grow. The suggested data set should then be composed of information which describe the characteristics of the model's activities and constraints as accurately as ease of manipulation will allow.

Such information can be envisioned with little difficulty. For example, any one of the aggregate producing sectors used in this study could be further broken down into a number of smaller, more homogeneous industry types. Linear production functions for these industry types could be estimated by sampling among them. It appears that the data so estimated could be allowed a large error tolerance, since the previous analysis in this chapter has shown that relatively small changes in the shadow price of water occur with large changes in water use. This insensitivity implies that the opportunity cost of inaccurate data may not be high.

The development of a system for utilizing this data would not be inordinately difficult. Linear programming routines have been developed and can be made an integral part of any computer installation. Data files could be established in some form of computer storage, such as magnetic tape or magnetic disc, and the required coefficients would be a part of the model's solution system.

It is apparent, therefore, that a model such as the one developed in this thesis, when utilized with the appropriate data, could be of continuing value in the administration of Iowa's permit system. It is not improbable that a model and data system such as the one suggested here could be easily maintained and updated once the data files had been established, thus providing an analytical tool which could be used to good purpose in more efficiently administering Iowa's water resources.

Suggestions for Further Research

As the conclusions of this study indicate, further research in at least four specific directions is required in order that the model developed in this thesis can be of maximum usefulness to those who are responsible for water quality management in Iowa. The first, and most urgent, direction is the development of more accurate information from which the coefficients and parameters of the model can be estimated. A data bank could be developed, in which production information could be stored. This information would be more specific than that derived from the aggregate sectors used herein. The increased specificity could come through subdividing sectors into a number of more narrow industry types and sampling within those types to derive more complete and representative descriptions of these production functions. With this data on file, a decision maker faced with determining a question of water allocation could utilize the model simply by withdrawing from the data banks those activities involved in the allocation.

The second direction of research and a necessary extension of the model is the simultaneous consideration of waste quality and water allocation questions, for these two dimensions of the water resource are highly interdependent. Accommodating quality consideration in the model requires the addition of activities which describe the changes in water use resulting from changes in quality. A mathematical simulation might also be constructed in any given water use situation which would provide the exogenous data describing changes in water quality in a hydrologic system. The simulation model would provide the linear program with data to describe changes in the hydrologic system which had taken place during the time period which the linear program represents. In this way, a constantly changing system can be represented, and the optimum water use found after any change has taken place.

Research could also be conducted in a third area. Models which describe the hydrologic system under consideration can be linked with this study's linear programming model, which describes the economic

system making use of the water. In this way, changes in water resource parameters could be determined as changes in the hydrologic system took place, either as a result of water use or of changes in water supply.

A fourth area of study is indicated by the following facts. The value of marginal product of a unit of water is also the share of product which accrues to water as an input to production. This value represents the marginal cost to the State of Iowa in surrendering water for use. The marginal benefit from use, however, is being realized privately, and marginal private cost is zero since only the \$15 application fee is charged for water used. This divergence between private and social marginal cost could be rectified if a fee were charged, equal to value of marginal product, for water use. This fee would also be an aid in allocation, since, in perfect competition, it represents the market clearing price of water. On the basis of what has been shown in this study with regard to the permit system and water allocation, collection of such a fee is justified. However, the assumption of perfect competition and homogeneous water supplies relied on in this thesis must be relaxed and the resulting conclusions studied prior to any recommendation on the structure of a system of fees for water use.

Whichever of these three directions of research is taken, it is apparent that this type of water resources research is an interdisciplinary field of endeavor. The inherently hybrid nature of the tools which will be needed for water resource management in the future require that research efforts be conducted in the points of intersection of economics with such disciplines as physical sciences, law, and engineering.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, L. M. Water rights under riparian and appropriative doctrines. In Timmons, J. F., O'Byrne, J. C. and Frevert, R. K., eds. Iowa's water resources. pp. 99-108. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Press. 1956.
- Barlowe, R. Land resource economics. Englewood Cliffs, N. J., Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1958.
- Barnard, Jerald R. Design and use of social accounting systems in state development planning. Bureau of Business and Economic Research. Iowa City, Iowa, University of Iowa. 1967.
- 4. Barnard, Jerald. Iowa's river basins, preliminary water use projections for Iowa portions of Missouri and upper Mississippi basins. Preliminary unpublished paper. Bureau of Business and Economic Research. Iowa City, Iowa, University of Iowa. 1967.
- Baumol, William J. Economic theory and operations analysis.
 2nd ed. Englewood Cliffs, N. J., Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1965.
- Bennion, V. R. Surface water in Iowa: amount, distribution and future needs. In Timmons, J. F., O'Byrne, J. C. and Frevert, R. K., eds. Iowa's water resources. pp. 10-15. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Press. 1956.
- Bower, B. T. The economics of industrial water utilization. In Kneese, A. V. and Smith, S. C., eds. Water research. pp. 143-173. Baltimore, Md., Johns Hopkins Press. 1966.
- Some physical, technological and economic characteristics of water and water resources system; implication for administration. Nat. Res. J. 3: 215-238. 1963.
- Boyce, E. Inherent difference between water and other natural resources. In Water resources and the law. pp. 1-6. Ann Arbor, Mich., University of Michigan Law School, Legislative Research Center. 1958.
- Brewer, Michael F. The economics of water transfer. Nat. Res. J. 4: 522-536. 1965.
- 11. Public pricing of natural resources. J. Farm Econ. 44: 35-49. 1962.

- Castle, E. N. and Lindeborg, K. H. The economics of ground water allocation: a case study. J. Farm Econ. 42: 150-160. 1960.
- Chamberlain, A. R. and Grant, L. O. Weather modification and its relationship to environment. Unpublished mineographed paper presented at 1967 Western Resources Conference. Boulder, Colo., Atmospheric Science Department. 1967.
- Ciriacy-Wantrup, S. V. Benefit-cost analysis and public-resource development. J. Farm Econ. 37: 676-689. 1955.
- 15. Concepts used as economic criteria for a system of water rights. In Smith, S. C. and Castle, E. N., eds. Economics and public policy in water resource development. pp. 251-271. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State University Press. 1956.
- Projection of water requirements in the economics of water policy. J. Farm Econ. 43: 197-214. 1961.
- Some economic issues in water rights. J. Farm Econ.
 37: 875-885. 1955.
- 18. Water resources and economic development, the challenge to knowledge. Unpublished paper presented at Conference on Water Resources and Economic Development in the South. Raleigh, N. C., Agr. Policy Inst. August, 1965.
- Cohen, Kalman J. and Cyert, Richard M. Theory of the firm: resource allocation in a market economy. Englewood Cliffs, N. J., Prentice-Hall, Inc. 1965.
- Cormack, J. M. N. An application of farm planning to watershed development. Unpublished Ph. D. thesis. Ames, Iowa, Library, Iowa State University. 1965.
- Daellenbach, Lawrence Arthur. Effects of short-run variation in input supplies on cost, profits, and firm strategy - the pork slaughter industry. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis. Ames, Iowa, Library, Iowa State University of Science and Technology. 1969.
- Dantzig, George B. Linear programming and extensions. Princeton, N. J., Princeton University Press. 1963.
- Davis, E. Water rights in Iowa. In Timmons, J. F., O'Byrne, J. C. and Frevert, R. K., eds. Iowa water resources. pp. 109-118. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Press. 1956.
- Dawson, J. A. Productivity of water in agriculture. J. Farm Econ. 39: 1244-1252. 1957.

- 25. Dracup, John A. The optimum use of ground-water and surfacewater system: a parametric linear programming approach. Water Resources Center, Contribution No. 107. Berkeley, Calif., University of California Press. 1966.
- 26. Economic Research Service. Labor used to produce field crops, estimates by states. U. S. Dept. Agr. Stat. Bul. 346. 1964.
- Economic Research Service. Labor used to produce livestock estimates by states, 1959. U. S. Dept. Agr. Stat. Bul. 336. 1963.
- Economic Research Service. Livestock and meat statistics. Supplement for 1967 to U. S. Dept. Agr. Stat. Bul. 333. 1968.
- 29. Ellis, Harold H. Some current and proposed water-rights legislation in the eastern states. Iowa Law Rev. 41: 237-263. 1956.
- Ellis, Harold H. Water transfer problems: law. In Kneese, A. V. and Smith, S. C., eds. Water research. pp. 233-248. Baltimore, Md., Johns Hopkins Press. 1966.
- Federal Water Pollution Control Administration. Water quality criteria. Washington, D. C., U. S. Govt. Print. Off. 1968.
- Ferguson, C. E. Microeconomic theory. Homewood, Ill., Richard D. Irwin, Inc. 1966.
- Fischer, Loyd K. and Ottoson, Howard W. Hypotheses-guides for inquiry. In Bigson, W. L., Jr., Hildreth, R. J., and Wunderlich, Géne, eds. Methods for land economics research. pp. 41-53. Lincoln, Neb., University of Nebraska Press. 1966.
- 34. Gaffney, M. Comparison of market pricing and other means of allocating water resources. In Water law and policy in the southeast. pp. 195-277. Athens, Ga., University of Georgia, Institute of Law and Government. 1962.
- 35. Gross, Wayne William. The use and costs of capital in selected beef feedlots in four counties of Northeast Iowa. Unpublished Master's thesis. Ames, Iowa, Library, Iowa State University of Science and Technology. 1967.
- Hadley, G. Linear programming. Reading, Mass., Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Inc. 1962.
- 37. Nonlinear and dynamic programming. Reading, Mass., Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Inc. 1964.

- 38. Harl, N. E. Legal aspects of adapting water and educational institutions to economic growth. In Working papers from a seminar on adapting institutions to the conditions of economic growth. Bozeman, Montana, Montana State University, 1966.
- 39. Research methods adaptable to legal-economic enquiry: linear programming and simulation. In Hines, William N. and Harris, Marshall, eds. Methods for legal-economic research into rural problems. pp. 71-100. Agr. Law Center Mono. No. 8, Iowa City, Iowa, University of Iowa. 1966.
- 40. Hartman, L. M. and Seastone, D. A. Welfare goals and organization of decision-making for the allocation of water resources. Conference proceedings, Committee on the Economics of Water Resources Development of the Western Agricultural Economics Research Council, Report No. 12: 15-25. Salt Lake City, Utah, December, 1963. 211 Post Office Building, Berkeley 1, Calif. 1969.
- Henderson, James M. and Quandt, Richard E. Microeconomic theory: a mathematical approach. New York, N. Y., McGraw-Hill Book Co. 1958.
- 42. Hershey, H. G. Groundwater in Iowa: amount, distribution and future needs. In Timmons, J. F., O'Byrne, J. C. and Frevert, R. K. eds. Iowa water resources. pp. 16-21. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Press. 1956.
- Hines, N. W. A decade of experience under the Iowa water permit system. Agr. Law Center Mono. No. 9. Iowa City, Iowa, University of Iowa. 1966.
- Hirshleifer, J., DeHaven, J. C. and Milliman, J. W. Water supply: economics, technology, and policy. Chicago, Ill., University of Chicago Press. 1960.
- Hirshleifer, J. and Milliman, J. W. Urban water supply: a second look. Papers and proceedings of the Amer. Econ. Assoc. 1966: 169-178. San Francisco, Calif. 1967.
- Hutchins, W. A. The development and present status of water rights and water policy in the United States. J. Farm Econ. 37: 866-874. 1955.
- Hutchins, W. A. Groundwater legislation. In Smith, S. C. and Castle, E. N., eds. Economics and public policy in water resource development. pp. 293-316. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State University Press. 1956.
- 48. Iowa. Code, 1966. Title 17. Chap. 455A. 1966.

- Iowa State Department of Health. Iowa public water supply data. Des Moines, Iowa, author. 1964.
- 50. Iowa State Department of Health. Water quality criteria and plan for implementation and enforcement for the surface waters of Iowa. Des Moines, Iowa, author. 1967.
- 51. James, Sydney C. Midwest farm planning manual. 2nd ed. Ames, Iowa. Iowa State University Press. 1968.
- Kelso, Maurice M. The stock resource value of water. J. Farm Econ. 43: 1112-1129. 1961.
- Kuhn, H. W. and Tucker, A. W. Nonlinear programming. Second Berkeley Symp. of Math., Stat. and Prob. Proc. 1951: 481-492. 1951.
- Larimer, O. J. Drainage areas of Iowa streams. Iowa City, Iowa, U. S. Geological Survey, Water Resources Div. 1957.
- 55. Levi, D. R. and McNabb, G. Water legislation for Missouri? Bus. and Govt. Rev. 8, No. 6: 25-32. Nov. 1967.
- 56. Linsley, R. K. and Franzini, J. B. Water resources engineering. New York, N. Y., McGraw-Hill, Inc. 1964.
- 57. Maki, Wilbur R. Iowa's river basins: preliminary economic projections for Iowa portions of Missouri and upper Mississippi River basins. Unpublished mimeographed report. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State University. 1967.
- Maki, Wilbur R., Suttor, Richard E. and Barnard, Jerald R. Simulation of regional product and income with emphasis on Iowa, 1954-1974. Iowa. Agr. and Home Econ. Expt. Sta. Res. Bul. 548. 1966.
- Milliman, J. W. Water law and private decision-making. J. Law and Econ 2: 41-63. 1959.
- 59a. Miner, J. R., Lipper, R. I., Fina, L. R. and Funk, J. W. Cattle feelot runoff - its nature and variation. J. P. Water Pollution Control Fed. 38: 1582-1591. 1966.
- Moore, C. V. Economics of water demand in commercialized agriculture. J. Amer. Water Works Assoc. 54: 913-920. 1962.
- A general analytical framework for estimating the production function for crops using irrigation water. J. Farm Econ. 43: 876-888. 1961.

- Murray, C. Richard. Estimated use of water in the United States, 1965. U. S. Dept. Inc., Geo. Survey Circ. 556. 1968.
- McKee, J. R. and Wolf, Harold W., eds. Water quality criteria. 2nd ed. Calif. State Water Quality Control Board Pub. No. 3-A. 1963.
- 64. McKichan, Kenneth A. Estimated use of water in the United States, 1955. U. S. Dept. Int., Geo. Survey Circ. 398. 1957.
- McKichan, K. A. and Kammerer, J. C. Estimated use of water in the United States, 1960. U. S. Dept. Int., Geo. Survey Circ. 456. 1961.
- McMillan, James Angus. Public service systems in rural-urban development. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis. Ames, Iowa, Library, Iowa State University of Science and Technology. 1968.
- McPherson, W. K. Can water be allocated by competitive prices? J. Farm Econ. 38: 1259-1268. 1956.
- Naylor, Thomas H. The theory of the firm: a comparison of marginal analysis and linear programming. Southern Econ. J. 32: 263-274. 1966.
- Office for Planning and Programming. Iowa trends actual and projected. 1960-1980. Preliminary report. Des Moines, Iowa, author. 1968.
- Office for Planning and Programming. A regional delineation for the State of Iowa. Des Moines, Iowa, author. 1967.
- Ostle, Bernard. Statistics in research. 2nd ed. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State University Press. 1963.
- Pavelis, George A. and Timmons, John F. Linear programming: a new tool for watershed planning. J. Soil and Water Conserv. 15: 5-10. 1960.
- 73. Programming small watershed development. J. Farm Econ. 42: 225-240. 1960.
- Pigou, A. C. The economics of welfare. 4th ed. London, Macmillan and Co., Ltd. 1938.
- Samuelson, Paul A. Economics: an introductory analysis. 6th. ed. New York, N. Y., McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc. 1964.

- Schmid, A. A. Non-market values and efficiency of public investment in water resources. Amer. Econ. Assoc. papers and proceedings. 1966: 158-168. San Francisco, Calif. 1967.
- 77. Schwab, G. O. Surface storage reservoirs. In Timmons, J. R., O'Byrne, J. C. and Frevert, R. K., eds. Iowa's water resources. pp. 22-32. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Press. 1956.
- Scitovsky, T. Welfare and competition. Chicago, Ill., Richard D. Irwin, Inc. 1951.
- Seidel, Harris F. and Cleasby, John L. A statistical analysis of water works data for 1960. J. Amer. Water Works Assn. 12: 1507. 1966.
- Shaw, R. H. and Barger, G. L. The amount, distribution and disappearance of rainfall in Iowa. In Timmons, J. F., O'Byrne, J. C. and Frevert, R. K., eds. Iowa's water resources. pp. 3-9. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State College Press. 1956.
- 80a. Shaw, R. H., Runkles, J. R. and Barger, G. L. Seasonal changes in soil moisture as related to rainfall, soil type and crop growth. Iowa. Agr. and Home Econ. Expt. Sta. Res. Bul. 457. 1958.
- Smith, S. C. Legal and institutional control in water allocation. J. Farm Econ. 42: 1345-1358. 1960.
- Snyder, J. H. So then transfer we must. Conference proceedings, Committee on the Economics of Water Resources Development of the Western Agricultural Economics Research Council, Report No. 12: 1-14. Salt Lake City, Utah, December, 1963. 211 Post Office Building, Berkeley, Calif. 1964.
- Spivey, W. Allen. Linear programming: an introduction. New York, N. Y., The MacMillan Co. 1963.
- Steele, H. A. and Regan, M. M. Organization and administrative arrangements for an effective water policy. J. Farm Econ. 37: 886-896. 1955.
- 84a. Thorton, Marvin and Frederick, Robert. A study of lagoon waste treatment at five meat packing plants. Des Moines, Iowa, Iowa State Department of Health, Environmental Engineering Division. 1967.
- Timmons, J. F. Economic framework for watershed development. J. Farm Econ. 36: 1170-1183. 1954.

- Timmons, J. F. Methods of inquiry into land problems. Unpublished manuscript. Ames, Iowa, Department of Economics, Iowa State University. 1957.
- 87. Theoretical considerations of water allocation among competing uses and users. J. Farm Econ. 38: 1244-1258. 1956.
- 88. Water allocation: supply and demand relationships. In Massey, Dean T. and Rose, Gordon D. Opportunities for regional research on water resources problems. Agr. Law Center Mono. No. 10. Iowa City, Iowa. 1968.
- 89. Tolley, G. S. and Hastings, V. S. Optimal water allocation: the North Platte River. Quart. J. of Econ. 74: 279-295. 1960.
- 90. Trelease, F. J. The concept of reasonable beneficial use in the law of surface streams. In Smith, S. C. and Castle, E. N., eds. Economics and public policy in water resource development. pp. 272-292. Ames, Iowa, Iowa State University Press. 1964.
- 91. Coordination of riparian and appropriative rights to the use of water. Texas Law Rev. 33: 24-69. 1954.
- 92. Preferences to the use of water. Rocky Mt. Law Rev. 27: 130-160. 1955.
- 93. Water law and economic transfers of water. J. Farm Econ. 43: 1147-1152. 1961.
- 94. Trelease, F. J., Bloomenthal, Harold S. and Geraud, Joseph R. Cases and material on natural resources. St. Paul, Minn., West Publishing Co. 1965.
- 94a. Turvey, Ralph. On divergences between social cost and private cost. Economica 30: 309-313. 1963.
- Ulrich, Martin Albert. Optimal settlement systems in rural areas. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis. Ames, Iowa, Library, Iowa State University of Science and Technology. 1968.
- U. S. Census Bureau. General social and economic characterístics, Iowa, Vol. 1, Part 17c. 1960.
- U. S. Department of Agriculture. Soil survey, Shelby County, Iowa. Series 1956, No. 16. Washington, D. C., U. S. Govt. Print. Off. 1960.
- 97a. U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service. 1962 inventory of municipal waste facilities: region VI. Washington, D.C., U. S. Govt. Print. Off. 1963.

- 97b. U. S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, Public Health Service. 1963 inventory of municipal water facilities: region VI. Washington, D.C., U. S. Govt. Print. Off. 1964.
- U. S. Geological Survey, Water Resources Division. Surface water records of Iowa. 1961. Iowa City, Iowa, author. 1962.
- 99. Surface water records of Iowa, 1962. Iowa City, Iowa, author. 1963.
- 100. Surface water records of Iowa, 1963. Iowa City, Iowa, author. 1964.
- 101. Surface water records of Iowa, 1964. Iowa City, Iowa, author. 1965.
- 102. Water resources data for Iowa, 1965, part I: surface water records. Iowa City, Iowa, author. 1966.
- 103. Water resources data for Iowa, 1966, part I: surface water records. Iowa City, Iowa, author. 1967.
- 104. U. S. Weather Bureau and Iowa Weather Division. Iowa temperature and precipitation record: 1873-1968. Des Moines, Iowa, author. 1968.
- 105. Whinston, Andrew. Price coordination in decentralized systems. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation. Carnegie Institute of Technology. 1962. Cited in Baumol, William J. Welfare economics and theory of the state. 2nd ed. Cambridge, Mass., Harvard University Press. 1965.
- 106. Wiles, P. Growth versus choice. The Econ. J. 46: 244-255. 1956.
- 107. Young, R. A. and Martin, W. E. The economics of Arizona's water problems. Ariz. Rev. 16, No. 3: 9-18. 1967.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author wishes to express gratitude and appreciation to Professor Neil E. Harl for contributions to this study in two capacities. As the author's advisor, Professor Harl gave guidance and leadership in this study; as a scholar of jurisprudence, he offered invaluable insights into the intricacies of water law and into the relationship of law and economics.

The author is also indebted to individuals in disciplines outside the field of economics for assistance in understanding the concepts of physical science used in this analysis. In particular, the author wishes to thank Professor Merwin Dougal for clarification of many of these physical relationships and phenonmena.

Finally, among those whose efforts contributed to this study, one individual deserving a special measure of gratitude is the author's wife, Linda. Her constant support and encouragement were of immeasurable value in the completion of this task. APPENDIX A

.

Η
tion
lica
app
1 n
used
types
soil
uo
yields
crop
expected
and
rates
Fertilization
15.
le
lab

Sol	1 type	D	orn	Soybe	ans
		yield ^a (bushels/acre)	fertilization rate ^b (lb./acre)	yield ^a (bushels/acre)	fertilization rate ^b (lb./acre)
Ŀ.	Tama silty				
	clay loam	98		34	
	Fertilizer:				
	Nitrogen		100		0
	Phosphorus		18		18
	Potassium		15		0
п.	Clarion loam	06		29	
	Fertilizer:				
	Nitrogen		80		0
	Phosphorus		36		26
	Potassium		15		35

^a(50, Table 1.10, p. 15) ^b(50, Table 1.9, p. 14)

	Rainfall ^a (in)	Runoff (in) ^b	Runoff (gallons per square mile drainage area)	
Average rainfall				v
annual period 1 period 2 period 3 period 4	32.12 9.37 8.60 7.46 6.69	6.572 2.74 2.188 0.874 0.768	62,105,173.4 47,639,466.8 38,042,026.7 15,195,946.7 13,352,960.0	
Below normal rainfall				
annual period 1 period 2 period 3 period 4	21.47 6.06 6.08 4.90 4.43	2.172 0.906 0.732 0.289 0.254	37,763,840.1 15,752,320.0 12,727,040.0 5,024,746.7 4,416,213.3	
Above normal rainfall				
annual period 1 period 2 period 3 period 4	37.79 11.11 10.52 8.89 7.27	10.02 4.18 3.34 1.33 1.17	174,214,400.3 72,676,266.8 58,071,466.8 23,124,266.7 20,342,400.0	

Table 16. Rainfall and runoff by time period for three levels of rainfall

^a(80, p. 6)

```
blog (annual runoff) = -3.1 + 2.6
log (annual rainfall):
runoff in period 1: 41.7% of annual total;
        period 2: 33.3% of annual total;
        period 3: 13.3% of annual total;
        period 4: 11.7% of annual total.
See Bennion (6, p.11).
```

	Wat	er required ^a (gallons/acre)		(ga below normal	Rainfall ^b allons/acre) average	above normal	
Period 1: Corn I Corn II Soybeans Soybeans	s I 3 II	13,276.5 13,276.5 13,276.5 13,276.5	16	,463.2	25,455.5	30,182.5	
Period 2: Corn I Corn II Soybeans Soybeans	a I a II	19,361.9 19,361.9 19,361.9 19,361.9	16,	,517.5	23,363.6	28,579.7	
Period 3: Corn I Corn II Soybeans Soybeans	I I I I	29,139.3 29,139.3 29,139.3 29,139.3	13,	,311.8	20,266.6	24,151.5	
Period 4: Corn I Corn II Soybeans Soybeans	I II	13.754.6 13.754.6 13,754.6 13, 7 54.6	12,	035.0	18,174.7	19,750.4	

Table 17. Crop water requirements by time period for three levels of rainfall

^aBased on data given in Shaw, et al. (80a).

^bBased on data given in Shaw, (80).

^CFor any time period, supplemental irrigation required = water required - rainfall, negative irrigation requirements, implying an abundance of rainfall relative to crop use, are considered as zero.

^dBased on data in James (51). See Table 1, supra.

5	Supplemental irrigation required ^C (gallons/acre) below above			Assumed yield ^d (bushels/acre)	Supplemental water requirements per bushel below normal average normal		
	normar	average	normar		norman	average	normar
				Toppin the second second second			
	0	0	0	98	0	0	0
	0	0	0	90	0	0	0
	0	0	0	34	0	0	0
	0	0	0	29	0	0	0
	2.844.3	0	0	98	29.0	0	0
	2.844.3	õ	õ	90	31.6	õ	Ō
	2,844.3	0	0	34	83.7	0	0
	2,844.3	0	0	29	98.1	0	0
	15.827.5	8 872 7	4 987 8	98	161.5	90.1	50.9
	15,827.5	8,872.7	4,987.8	90	175.9	98.1	55.4
	15.827.5	8.872.7	4.987.8	34	465.5	259.6	146.7
	15,827.5	8.872.7	4.987.8	29	545.8	304.4	172.0
	estati e sociato intera		n 🖁 sonere races	595080	681 (1997) 981(199		
	1 710 6	0	0	0.9	17 6	•	0
	1 710 4	0	0	90	17.0	0	0
	1 710 6	0	0	34	19.1	0	0
	1 719 6	0	0	29	59.3	0	0
	1,719.0		U	27	59.5	U	0
		0					
-----	-------------------------------------	--					
	Sector ^a	Standard Industrial Classification codes included					
1.	Livestock agriculture						
2.	Crop agriculture						
3.	Meat products	201					
4.	Other food and kindred products	20 (except 201)					
5.	Other non-durables	22,23, 26 - 31					
6.	Farm machinery	352					
7.	Other machinery	35 (except 352), 36					
8.	Other durables	19, 24, 25, 32 - 34, 37 - 39					
9.	Regulated industries	40, 42, 44 - 47, 481, 482, 49					
10.	Wholesale and retail trade	50 - 59					
11.	Finance, insurance, and real estate	60 - 67					
12.	Other services	70 - 89 (except public education), 483,0722					
13.	Construction and mining	15 - 17, 12, 14					

Table 18. Definition of aggragate sectors by Standard Industrial Classification code

^a(66, Table 1, 8 - 32)

	Sector car doll	1960 oital per ar output ^a	1960 output per worker ^b	1960 capital per per worker ^c	1960 employed ^d
1.	Livestock agriculture	0.6295	15,775	\$ 9,930.4	140,394
2.	Crop agriculture	1.6114	16,274	\$26,233.9	75,473
3.	Meat products	0.1423	52,455	\$ 7,464.3	27,313
4.	Other food and kindred products	0.3497	32,898	\$11,504.4	29,731
5.	Other non-durables	0,5389	15,766	\$ 8,496.3	36,999
6.	Farm machinery	0.4150	15,838	\$ 6,572.8	22,060
7.	Other machinery	0.4945	11,361	\$ 5,618.0	34,133
8.	Other durables	0.5015	12,745	\$ 6,391.6	44,259
9.	Regulated industry	2.2621	13,456	\$30,438.8	66,016
10.	Wholesale and retail trade	0.6523	5,817	\$ 3,794.4	203,648
11.	Finance, Insurance, and real estate	1.0471	30,995	\$32,454.9	37,492
12.	Other services.	0.9451	4,333	\$ 4,095.1	161,906
13.	Constructing & mining	0.1909	17,102	\$ 3,280.0	56,770

Table 19. 1960 capital-output, output per worker, and capital-labor ratios by sector

^a(3, Table 8, p. 53)

^b(66, Table 29, p. 127)

cCapital/dollars of output X output/worker = capital/worker. d(66, Table 31, p. 129)

	Sector	Direct purchases per dollar of gross output ^a	Imports per dollar of gross output ^b	Total materials cost per dollar of gross output
1.	Livestock agricultu	are 0.364713	0.174749	0.539462
2.	Crop agriculture	0.540987	0.001549	0.542536
3.	Meat products	0.131098	0.000902	0.132000
4.	Other food and kind products	red 0.231319	0.008886	0.240205
5.	Other non-durables	0.411381	0.016417	0.427798
6.	Farm machinery	0,560502	0.121950	0.682452
7.	Other machinery	0.639259	0.061198	0.700457
8.	Other durables	0.588157	0.090549	0.686706
9.	Regulated industries	s 0.689875	0.011813	0.701688
10.	Wholesale and retai trade	1 0.765675	0.004516	0.770191
11.	Finance, insurance,	0.613211	0.004679	0.617890
12.	Other services	0.745066	0.002981	0.748047
13.	Construction and mining	0.421439	0.044192	0.465631

Table 20. Direct purchases and imports per dollar of gross output by sector, 1960

^a(66, Table 26, p. 124)

^b(3, Table 22, pp. 95-96)

				_	
Major industry group ^a	Activities included	Capital ^b worker	Estimated employment ^C		Capital stock
Non-durable goods manufacturing	x ₈ ,x ₉	\$ 3,373.9	128	\$	431,859.2
Durable goods manufacturing	x ₁₀ ,x ₁₁ ,x ₁₂	\$ 3,186.8	116	\$	369,668.8
Regulated industries	x ₁₃	\$30,438.8	123	\$	3,743,972.4
Wholesale and retail trade	x ₁₄	\$ 3,794.4	438	Ş	1,661,947.2
Finance, insurance, and real estate	x ₁₅	\$32,454.9	62	Ş	2,012,203.8
Other services	×16	\$ 4,095.1	439	\$	1,797,748.9
Construction and mining	x ₁₇	\$ 3,280.0	121	Ş	396,880.0

Table 21. Capital per worker and estimated capital stock by major industry groups, application I

^aThese major industry groups are defined in U. S. Census of Population (96, Table 70, p. 17-199).

^bCapital/_{Worker} = Capital/_{Output} X Output/_{Worker} . Capitaloutput ratio from Barnard (3, Table 8, p. 53); output per worker from MacMillan (66, Table 29, p. 127).

^CTotal model employment was allocated among major industry groups in the same proportions in which total state employment is divided among the same major industry groups in urban places of 2,500 to 10,000 population. APPENDIX B

	1960a	1960b	Percentage of	1967 ^c	1967 ^d	
Major industry group	County employment	Municipal employment	<pre>county employ- ment located in municipality</pre>	Estimated county employment	Estimated municipal employment	
Agr iculture	2,368	85	3.6	2,002	72	
Manufacturing	213	120	56,3	448	351	
Regulated Industries	251	121	48.2	273	128	
Wholesale and Retail Tr	ade 1,000.	544	54.4	1,112	619	
Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate	l 163	102	62.6	195	123	
Services	126	385	39.6	1,326	533	
Construction	292	150	51.4	351	188	
[ota]					2,014	
aros matte of						

Actual 1960 county and municipal employment, by sector and estimated 1967 county and municipal employment, by sector Table 22.

(96, Table 85, p. 17-268)

^b(96, Table 81, p. 17-234)

Data ^cDr. Marvin Julius, Department of Economics, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. from a study in progress of employment and output in Iowa counties. June, 1969. dMunicipal employment by sector is assumed to be in the same proportion to total municipal employment as county employment by sector is to total county employment.

Major industry group	Capital per worker ^a	Estimated 1967 employment ^b	Estimated 1967 capital stock
0 1	a sa		
Agriculture	\$15,620.3	72	\$1,124,662
Manufacturing	\$ 7,606.7	351	\$2,669,952
Regulated Industries	\$30,428.8	128	\$3,896,166
Wholesale Retain Trade	\$ 3,794.4	619	\$2,348,734
Finance, Insurance and Real Estate	\$32 , 454.9	123	\$3,991,953
Services	\$ 4,095.1	533	\$ 2,182,688
Construction	\$ 3,280.0	188	\$ 616,640

Table 23. Capital per worker and estimated 1967 capital stock, by major industry groups

^aCapital/_{Worker} = Capital/_{Output} X Output/_{Worker} . Capitaloutput ratio from Barnard (3, Table 8, p. 53); output per worker from McMillan (66, Table 29, p. 127).

^bFor sources and derivation, see Table 22, Appendix B.